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POINTS AND AUTHORITIES
STATEMENT OF FACTS

This Court summarized the facts of this case in the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of

Law and Order denying Petitioner’s fourth demand for habeas relief:

On March 26, 1980, around noon, a Sears’ security officer, Keith
Kinsey, observed Howard take a sander from a shelf, remove the packing and
then claim a fraudulent refund slip from a cashier. Kinsey approached Howard
and asked him to accompany Kinsey to a security office. Kinsey enlisted the
aid of two other store employees. Howard was cooperative, alert and indicated
there must be some mistake. In the security office, Kinsey observed Howard
had a gun under his jacket and attempted to handcuff Howard for safety
reasons. A struggle broke out and Howard drew a .357 revolver and pointed it
at the three men. Howard had the men lay face down on the floor and took
Kinsey’s secur_itF/ badﬁe, ID and a portable radio (walkie-talkie). Howard
threatened to kill the three men if they followed him and he fled to his car in
the parking lot. A yellow gold jewelry ID bracelet was found at the scene and
impounded. It was later identified as Howard’s. The Sears in question was
located at the corner of Desert Inn Road and Maryland Parkway at the
Boulevard Mall in Las Vegas, Nevada.

Dawana Thomas, Howard’s girlfriend, was waiting for him in the car.
Howard had told her to wait for him and she was unaware of his intentions to
obtain money through a false refund transaction. Fleeing from the robbery,
Howard hopped into the car, a 1980 black Oldsmobile Cutlass with New York
plates 614 ZHQ and sped away from the mall. ~ While escaping, Howard rear-
ended a white corvette driven by Stephen Houchin. Houchin followed Howard
when Howard left the scene of the accident. Howard pointed the .357 revolver
out the window of the Olds and at Houchin’s face, telling Houchin to mind his
own business.

Howard drove to the Castaways Motel on Las Vegas Boulevard South
and parked the car for a few hours. Thomas and Howard walked about and
Howard made some phone calls. Later that evening Howard left for a couple
of hours. When he returned he told Thomas that he had met up with a pimp,
but the pimps’ girls were with him so he couldn’t rob him. Howard indicated
h|$ had arranged to meet with the “pimp” the next morning and would rob him
then.

Howard and Thomas drove to the Western Six motel located on the
Boulder Highway near the intersection of Desert Inn Road. The couple had
stayed at this motel before and Howard instructed Thomas to register under an
assumed name, Barbara Jackson. The motel registration card under that name
was admitted into evidence and a documents’ examiner compared handwriting
on the card with Thomas’ and indicated they matched.

Around 6:00 a.m. on March 27, 1980, Thomas and Howard left the
motel and went to breakfast. After breakfast, Thomas dropped Howard off in
the alley behind Dr. George Monahan’s office. This was at approximately
7:00 a.m. Thomas went back to the motel room. Approximately an hour later,
Howard returned to the motel. Howard had a CB radio with him that had loose
wires and a gold watch she had never seen before. Howard told Thompson
that he was tired of Las Vegas and to pack up their things as they were leaving
for California.

Dr. Monahan was a dentist with a practice located on Desert Inn Road
within walking distance of the Boulevard Mall. He was attempting to sell a
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uniquely painted van and would park the van in the parking lot of the mall, at
the Desert Inn and Maryland intersection and near the Sears store, then walk to
his office. The van had a sign in it listing Dr. Monahan’s home and business
phone numbers and the business address.

About 4:00 p.m. on March 26, 1980, the afternoon of the Sears robbery,
Dr. Monahan’s wite, Mary Lou Monahan, received a phone call at her home
inquiring about the van. The caller was a male who identified himself as
“Keith” and stated he was a security guard at Caesar’s Palace. He indicated he
was interested in purchasing the van and wanted to know if someone could
meet him at Caesar’s during his break time at 8:00 p.m. Mrs. Monahan
indicated the caller would have to talk to her husband who was expected home
shortly. A second call was made around 4:30 p.m. and Dr. Monahan made
arrangements to meet “Keith” at Caesar’s later that night.

The Monahans and two relatives, Barbara Zemen and Mary Catherine
Monahan, met “Keith” that evening at the appointed time and place. Howard
was identified as the man who called himself “Keith”. Howard was carrying a
walkie-talkie radio at the time. Howard talked to Dr. Monahan for about ten
minutes about purchasing the van and looked inside the van but did not touch
the door handle while doing so. Howard arranged to meet Dr. Monahan the
next morning to take a test drive. The Monahan’s left Caesar’s and parked the
van at Dr. Monahan’s office before returning home in another vehicle.

The next day, March 27, 1980, Dr. Monahan left his home at about 6:50
a.m. He took with him his wallet, a gold Seiko watch, daily receipts and the
van title. When Mrs. Monahan arrived at the office at about 8:00 a.m. Dr.
Monahan was not there and a patient was waiting for him. Dr. Monahan’s
truck was in the parking lot to the rear of the office. Dr. Monahan had not
entered the office. A black man wearing a radio or walkie-talkie on his belt
came into the office at about 7:00 a.m. that morning looking for Dr. Monahan
and stating that he had an appointment with the doctor.

Mrs. Monahan called Caesar’s Palace and learned no “Keith” fitting the
description she gave worked security. After obtaining this information, Mrs.
Monahan called the police to report her husband as a missing person. This
occurred at about 9:00 a.m.

Charles Marino owned the Dew Drop Inn located near the corner of
Desert Inn and Boulder Highway, just a few blocks from Dr. Monahan’s office
and almost across the road from the Western Six motel. Early on the morning
of March 27, 1980, as he approached his business, he observed the Monahan
van backing into the rear of the bar. When he arrived at the Inn, he looked in
the driver’s side and saw no one. He asked patrons if they knew anything
about the van and no one spoke up. Marino remained at the business until the
early afternoon. The van was still there and had not been moved. Later that
day, at around 7:00 p.m. he received a call to return to the bar as a dead body
had been found in the van. _

In response to television coverage, the police learned the Monahan van
was behind the Dew Drop Inn around 6:45 p.m. Dr. Monahan’s body was
found in the van under an overturned table and some coverings. He had been
shot once in the head. The bullet went through Dr. Monahan’s head and a
projectile was recovered on the floor of the van. The Br(yectile was compared
to Howard’s .357 revolver. Because the bullet was so badly damaged; forensic
analysis could not establish an exact match. It was determined that the bullet
could have come from certain makes and models of revolvers, Howard’s
included. The van’s CB radio and a tape deck had been removed. Dr.
Monahan’s watch and wallet were missing. A fingerprint recovered from one
of the van’s doors matched Howard’s.

Homicide detectives were aware of the Sears robbery that had occurred
on March 26", The description of the Sears suspect matched that given by
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Mrs. Monahan of the man calling himself Keith at Caesar’s Palace. Based
upon that, the use of the name Keith, the walkie-talkie in possession of the
suspect, the close proximity of the dental office to the Sears and the fact that
the van had been parked in the Sears’ parking lot, the police issued a bulletin to
state and out-of-state law enforcement agencies describing the suspect and the
car used in the Sears’ robbery. _ _

On March 27, 1980, while the police were searching for Dr. Monahan,
Howard and Thompson drove to California. They left the motel between 8:00
a.m. and 9:00 a.m. and on the way they stopped for gas. At that time Howard
had a brown or black wallet that had credit cards and photos in it. Howard
weﬂt to the gas station rest room and when he returned he no longer had the
wallet.

On March 28, 1980, Howard and Thompson went to a Sears in San
Bernadino, California. Once again Howard left Thompson in the car while he
entered the Sears, picked up merchandize and tried to obtain a refund on it.
This time he used the stolen Kinsey Sears securit badﬂe in the attempt. The
Sears personal were suspicious and left Howard at the register while they
called Las Vegas. When they returned Howard had left. Howard had returned
to the car and Thompson and Howard ducked down when the people from
Sears stepped outside to view the parking lot.

On or about April 1, 1980, at around noon, Howard went to the
Stonewood Shopping Center in Downey, California. He entered a jewelry
store and talked to a security agent, Manny Velasquez. Another agent in the
store, Robert Slater, who also worked as a police officer in Downe%/, saw
Howard and noticed the grip of a gun under Howard’s HI acket. Slater talked to
Velasquez and decided to call the Downey Police. Howard left the jewelry
store went to the west end of the mall near a Thrifty drugstore. Downey Police
officers observed Howard Wc’_:l|klnﬂ up and down the aisles of the drugstore,
picking items up and replacing them on shelves. Howard was stopped on
suspicion of carrying a concealed weapon. No gun was found on him nor was
he carrying the walkie-talkie. A search of the aisles he had been in revealed a
.357 magnum revolver and the walkie-talkie and Sears’ security badge stolen
from Kinsey.

Howard was arrested for carrying a concealed weapon and then
identified and booked for a San Bernadino robbery. Howard was given his
Miranda rights by Downea/ Police officers. Disputed evidence was presented
regarding his response and whether he invoked his right to silence. Based on
information in the all-points bulletin, the California authorities contacted the
Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department about Howard. On April 2, 1980,
LVMPD Detective Alfred Leavitt went to California and, after readin
Howard his Miranda rights, which Howard indicated he understood,
interviewed Howard regarding the Sears robbery and Dr. Monahan’s murder.
Howard did not invoke his rigﬁt to remain silent or to counsel at this time.

Howard told Detective Leavitt he recalled being at the Sears department
store but no details about what happened and that he did not remember
anything about March 27, 1980. He stated he could have killed Dr. Monahan
but he didn’t know.

Ed Schwartz was working as a car salesman in New York on October 5,
1979. When he arrived at work at approximately 9:00 a.m. Howard entered
the agency and was looking at an Oldsmobile car. Howard showed Schwartz a
New York driver’s license and checkbook and told Schwartz that he worked
for a security firm in New York. Howard asked if they could take a
demonstration ride and Schwartz drove the car for a few blocks while Howard
was the passenger. Howard asked if he could drive the car and the men
switched seats. After driving for a short time, Howard pulled over and Pomted
an automatic pistol at Schwartz. Schwartz was told to get down on the tloor of
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the car and remove his shoes and pants. Schwartz complied and Howard took
Schwartz’ watch, ring and wallet. Schwartz got out of the car when ordered to
do so and Howard drove off. The car was later found abandoned.*

Howard called witnesses who testified they saw the Monahan van being
driven by a black man who did not match Howard’s description, in particular
the man had a large afro and Howard had short hair. John McBride state that
he saw the van around 8:30 to 8:45 a.m. in his apartment complex which is
located about five miles from Desert Inn and Boulder Highway. Lora Mallek
was employed at a Mobile gas station at the corner of DI and Boulder Highwa
and she stated serviced the van when it pulled into the station between 3:0
p.m. and 4:00 1p().m. Mallek testified that a black man with a large afro was
driving, a black woman who did not match Thomas’ description was in the
passenger seat and a white man was sitting in the back.

oward testified over the objection of counsel. He indicated he did not
recall much about March 26, 1980. He remembered being in Las Vegas in
general on and off and that at one point Dwana Thomas’ brother, who was
about Howard’s height, age and weight, and had a large afro, visited them.
Howard said he remembers incidents, not dates and Kinsey could have been
telling the truth about the Sears store. Howard indicated he wasn’t sure
because when the Sears people gathered around him, it reminded him of
Vietnam and he kind of had a flashback. Howard said he thinks he left Las
Vegas immediately after the Sears incident. Howard also stated that he did not
meet Dr. Monahan, rob or kill him as he couldn’t be that callous.

On cross-examination, Howard admitted he left New York in the middle
of his robbery trial and was asked about statements he made to Detective
Leavitt. Howard also acknowledged he has used a number of aliases includin
Harold Stanback. Howard indicated he was taking the blame for Dawana an
her brother Lonnie.

Dawana Thomas was called in rebuttal and indicated her brother Lonnie
had not been in Las Vegas in March of 1980.

In the penalty phase, the State presented evidence on the details of
Howard’s 1979 New York conviction for robbery. A college nurse who knew
Howard, Dorothy Weisband, testified that Howard robbed her at gunpoint
taking her wallet and car. He forced her into a closet and demanded she
removed her clothes. She refused and he left. After the robbery, Howard
called Weisband trying to get more cash from her in return for her car and
threatened her.

Howard testified regarding his military, family and mental health
histories. Howard discussed his military service and stated he had suffered a
concussion and received a purple heart.> Howard also stated he was on
veteran’s disability in New York.® He said he was in various mental health
facilities in California including being housed in the same facility as Charlie
Manson. He testified he had been diagnosed as a schizophrenic, but that some
of the doctors thought he was malingering. When asked about his childhood,
Howard became upset. He indicated he didn’t want to talk about the death of
his mother and sister. Howard indicated he was not mentally ill and knew
what he was doing at all times.

veteran’s hospital.

! This evidence was admitted to show identity and motive for the Monahan murder.
2 The military records attached to the current Fourth Petition do not reflect any such injury or award.

3 Howard’s military records do not support this and there is nothing in the record substantiating any admission to a

The record reflects Howard was never actually admitted to a hospital in New York because it
required identification and he could not identify himself due to existing warrants for his arrest.
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Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order, filed November 6, 2010, p. 12-19
(footnotes in original).
STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This Court also set forth the vast majority of the procedural history of this case in the
2010 Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order denying Petitioner’s fourth habeas
petition:

On May 20, 1981 defendant Samuel Howard was indicted on one count
of robbery with use of a deadly weapon involving a Sears security officer
named Keith Kinsey on March 26, 1980; one count of robbery with use of a
deadl¥ weapon involving Dr. George Monahan and one count of murder with
use of a deadly weapon involving Dr. Monahan, both committed on March 27,
1980. With respect to the murder count, the State alleged two theories: willful,
premeditated and deliberate murder or murder in the commission of a robbery.

Howard was arrested in California where he was serving time for a
robbery committed on or about April 1, 1980. He was extradited in November
of 1982 and an initial appearance was set for November 23, 1982. At that time
the matter was continued for appointment of counsel, the Clark County Public
Defender’s Office.

On November 30, 1982, Terry Jackson of the Public Defender’s Office
represented to the district court that Howard qualified for the Public
Defender’s services; however, Mr. Jackson indicated he had a personal conflict
as he was a friend of the victim.  The district judge determined that the
relationship did not create a conflict for the Public Defender’s Office, barred
Mr. Jackson from involvement with the case and appointed another deputy
public defender to Howard’s case.

Howard’s counsel requested a one week continuance to consult with
Howard about the case. Howard objected, insisted on being arraigned and
demanded a speedy trial. After discussion, the district court accepted a plea of
not guilty and set a trial date of January 10, 1983.

Howard filed a motion in late in December asking for his counsel to be
removed and substitute counsel appointed. Counsel filed a response
addressing issues raised in the motion. After a hearing, the district court
determined there were no grounds for removing the Clark County Public
Defender’s Office.

A motion for a psychiatric expert was filed. At a hearing, the district
court inquired if this was for competency and Howard’s counsel indicated it
was not, but it was to help evaluate Howard’s mental status at the time of the
events. The district court granted the motion and appointed Dr. O’Gorman to
assist the defense.

At a status check on January 4, 1983, defense counsel indicated the
defense could not be ready for the January 10" trial date due to the need to
conduct additional investigation and discovery. In addition, counsel noted
Howard was refusing to cooperate with counsel. Howard objected to any
continuance with knowledge that his attorneys’ could not complete the
investigations by that date. Given Howard’s objections, the district court
stated the trial would go forward as scheduled.

On the day of trial, defense counsel moved to withdraw stating that Mr.
Jackson’s conflict created mistrust in Howard and he therefore refused to
cooperate. This motion was denied. = Defense counsel then moved for a
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continuance as they did not feel comfortable proceeding to trial in this case,
given the issues involved, with only six weeks to prepare. After extensive
argument and a recess so that counsel could discuss the issue with Howard, the
district court granted the continuance over Howard’s objections.

~ _The %unt phase of the trial began on April 11, 1983 and concluded on
April 22, 1983. The jury returned a verdict of8gthY on all three counts. The
penalty phase was set to begin on May 2, 1983. In the interim, one of the
jurors tried to contact the trial judge about a scheduling problem. Because the
district judge was on vacation, someone referred the juror to the District
Attorney’s Office. That Office referred the juror to the jury commissioner.
Howard moved for a mistrial or elimination of the death penalty as a
sentencing option based upon this contact. After conducting an evidentiary
hearing, the district court denied Howard’s motions.

Defense counsel made an oral motion to withdraw indicating they had
irreconcilable differences with Howard over the conduct of the penalt){) phase.
Counsel indicated they had documents and witnesses in mitigation, but that
Howard had instructed them not to present any mitigation evidence. Howard
also instructed them not to argue mitigation and they would not follow that
directive, but would argue mitigation. Counsel also indicated that Howard told
them he wished to testify, but would not tell them the substance of his
testimony. Finally counsel indicated they had attempted to get military and
mental health records but were unsuccessful because the agencies possessin
the records would not send copes without a release signed by Howard an
Howard refused to sign the releases. The district court canvassed Howard if
this was correct and Howard confirmed it was true and that he did not want
any mitigation Pre_senteo_l._ The district court found Howard understood the
consequences ot his decision and denied the motion to withdraw concluding
defense counsel’s disagreement with Howard’s decision was not a valid basis
to withdraw.

The penalty phase began on May 2, 1983 and concluded on May 4,
1983. The State originally alleged three aggravating circumstances: 1) the
murder was committed by a person who had previously been convicted of a
felony involving the use of violence - namely robbery with use of a deadly
weapon in California, 2) prior violent felongy - a 1978 New York conviction in
absentia for robbery with use of a deadly weapon; and 3) the murder occurred
in the commission of a robbery. Howard moved to strike the California
conviction because the conviction occurred after the Monahan murder and the
New York conviction because it was not supported by a judgment of
conviction. The district court struck the California conviction but denied the
motion as to the New York conviction, noting that the records reflected a jury
had convicted Howard and the lack of a formal judgment was the result of
Howard’s absconding in the middle of trial.

The State presented evidence of the aggravating circumstances and
Howard took the stand and related information on his background. During a
break in the testimony, Howard suddenly stated he didn’t understand what
mitigation meant and that he would leave it up to his attorneys to decide what
to do. The district court asked Howard if he was now instructing his attorneys
to present mitigation and he refused to answer the question. Howard did
indicate that he wanted his attorney’s to argue mitigation and defense counsel
asked for time to prepare which was granteﬁ. The jury found both aggravating
circumstances existed and that no mitigating circumstances outweighed the
aggravating circumstances. The jury returned a sentence of death.

Howard appealed to the Nevada Supreme Court. Elizabeth Hatcher
represented Howard on Direct Appeal. Howard raised the following issues on
direct appeal: 1) ineffective assistance of counsel based on actual conflict
arising out of Jackson’s relationship with Dr. Monahan; 2) denial of a motion
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to sever the Sears’ count from the Monahan counts; 3) denial of an evidentiary
hearing on a motion to suppress Howard’s statements and evidence derived
therefrom; 4) refusal to instruct the jury that accomplice testimony should be
viewed with mistrust; 5) refusal to instruct theg’ury that Dawana Thomas was
an accomplice as a matter of law; 6) denial of a motion to strike the felony
robbery and New York prior violent felony aggravators; and 7) the giving of a
anti-sympathy instruction and refusal to instruct the jury that sympathy and
mercy were appropriate considerations.

The Nevada Supreme Court affirmed Howard’s conviction and
sentence. Howard v. State, 102 Nev. 572, 729 P.2d 1341 (1986) (hereinafter

“Howard I””). The Supreme Court held that the relationship of two members of

the Public Defender’s Office with Monahan did not objectively justify
Howard’s distrust and there was no evidence that those attorneys had any
involvement in his case. Therefore no actual conflict existed and t?;e claim of
ineffective assistance of counsel on this basis had no merit. The Court further
concluded the district court did not abuse its discretion by refusing to sever the
counts and by not granting an evidentiary hearing on the suppression motion.
The Court noted that the record reflected proFer Miranda warnings were given
and the statements were admitted as rebuttal and impeachment after Howard
testified. The Court also found that the district court did not error in rejecting
the two accomplice instructions; the anti-sympathy language in one of the
instructions was not err in light of the totality of the instructions and the record
supported the district court’s refusal to instruct on certain mitigatin
circumstances for lack of evidence. The Court concluded by stating it ha
considered Howard’s other claims of error and found them to be without merit.
Howard filed a petition for rehearing which was denied on March 24, 1987.
Remitittur was stayed pending the filing of a petition for Writ of Certiorari to
the United States Supreme Court on the anti-sympathy issues. John Graves, Jr.
was a(lj)pomted to represent Howard on the writ petition. The petition was
denied on October 5, 1987 and remitittur issued on February 12, 1988.

On October 28, 1987, Howard filed his first State petition for post-
conviction relief. John Graves Jr. and Carmine Colucci originally represented
Howard on the petition. They withdrew and David Schieck was appointed.
The petition raised the following claims for relief: 1) ineffective assistance of
trial counsel — guilt phase - failure to present an insanity defense and Howard’s
history of mental illness and commitments; 2) ineffective assistance of trial
counsel — penalty phase — failure to present mental health history and
documents; failure to present expert psychiatric evidence that Howard was not
a danger to jail population; failure to rebut future dangerousness evidence with
jail records and personnel; failure to object to improper prosecutorial
arguments involving statistics regarding deterrence, predictions of future
victims, Howard’s lack of rehabilitation, aligning the jury with “future
victims,” comparing victim’s life with Howard’s life, diluting jury’s
responsibility by suggesting it was shared with other entities, voicing personal
opinions in support of the death penalty and its application to Howard,
references to Charles Manson, voice of society arguments and referring to
Howard as an animal; 3) ineffective assistance of appellate counsel — failure to
raise prosecutorial misconduct issues.

An evidentiary hearing was held on August 25, 1988. George Franzen,
Lizzie Hatcher, John Graves and Howard testified. Supplemental points and
authorities were filed on October 3, 1988. The district court entered an oral
decision denying the petition on February 14, 1989. The district court
concluded that trial counsel performed admirably under difficult circumstances
created by Howard himself. As to the failure to present an insanity defense
and present mental health records, the court found that Howard was canvassed
throughout the proceedings about his refusal to cooperate in obtaining those
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records, particularly his refusal to sign releases. Howard knew what was going
on, was competent and was trying to manipulate the proceedings and that there
was no evidence to support an insanity defense, therefore counsel were not
ineffective in this regard.

On the issue of failure to object to prosecutorial misconduct, the district
court found that defense counsel did object where _approcs)riate and the
arguments that were not objected to did not amount to misconduct and were a
fair comment on the evidence. Even if some of the comments were improper,
the district court concluded that they would not have succeeded on appeal as
they were harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Formal findings of fact and
conclusions of law were filed on July 5, 1989.

The Nevada Supreme Court affirmed the district court’s denial of
Howard’s first State petition for post-conviction relief. Howard v. State, 106
Nev. 713, 800 P.2d 175 (1990) (hereinafter “Howard II”’). David Schieck
represented Howard in that appeal. On appeal Howard raised ineffective
assistance of trial and appellate counsel regarding the prosecutorial misconduct
issues. The Supreme Court found three comments to be improper under
Collier v. State, 101 Nev. 473, 705 P.2d 1126 (1985)°: 1) a personal opinion
that Howard merited the death penalty, 2) a golden rule argument — asking the
jury to put themselves in the shoes of a future victims and 3) an argument
without supFort from evidence that Howard might escape. The Court found
that counsel were ineffective for failing to object to these arguments but
concluded there was no reasonable probability of a contrary result absent these
remarks and therefore no prejudice. The Court rejected Howard’s other
contentions of improper argument.

With respect the mitigation evidence issues, the Nevada Supreme Court
upheld the district court’s findings that this was a result of Howard’s own
conduct and not ineffective assistance of counsel.®

Howard proceeded to file a second Federal habeas corpus petition on
May 1, 1991. This proceeding was stayed for Howard to exhaust his state
remedies on October 16, 1991.

Howard then filed a second State é)etition for post-conviction relief on
December 16, 1991. Cal J. Potter, Il and Fred Atcheson represented Howard
in the second State petition. In that petition, Howard alleged denial of a fair
trial based on prosecutorial misconduct, namely: 1) jury tampering based on
the prosecutor’s contact with the juror between the guilt and penalty phases; 2)
expressions of personal belief and a personal endorsement of the deat penaltg;
3) reference to the improbability of rehabilitation, escape, future killings; 3)
comparing Howard’s life with Dr. Monahan’s and 4) a statement that the
community would benefit from Howard’s death. The petition also asserted an
ineffective assistance of trial counsel claim for failing to explain to Howard the
nature of mltlgatl_n? circumstances and their importance. Finally the petition
raised a speedy trial violation and cumulative error.

The State moved to dismiss the second State petition as procedurally
barred or governed by the law of the case on February 10, 1992. In his reply,
Howard dropped his speedy trial claim as unsubstantiated and indicated if the
other claims were barred, then they had been exhausted and Howard could

“During the pendency of the first State petition for post-conviction relief, Howard filed his first Federal petition for
habeas relief. That petition was dismissed without prejudice on June 23, 1988.
5 Collier was decided two years after Howard’s trial.

6 The State filed a petition for rehearing with respect to sanctions imposed on the prosecutor because his remarks
violated Collier. The State noted that Howard’s trial occurred before Collier therefore the Court should not sanction
counsel for conduct that occurred before the Court issued the Collier opinion. Rehearing was denied February 7, 1991.
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proceed in Federal court.

The district court denied the petition on July 7, 1992. The district court
found that the claims of prosecutorial misconduct and ineffective assistance of
counsel relating thereto as well as the claims relating to mitigation evidence
had been heard and found to be without merit or failed to demonstrate
prejudice. Such claims were therefore barred by the law of the case. The
district court further concluded that any claim of cumulative error and any
issues not raised in previous proceedings were procedurally barred. Finally the
district court found the speedy trial violation was a naked allegation, frivolous
and procedurally barred.

Howard appealed the denial of his second State petition to the Nevada
Supreme Court, which dismissed his appeal on March 19, 1993. The Order
Dismissing Appeal found that Howard’s second State petition was so lacking
in merit that briefing and oral argument was not warranted. Howard filed a

etition for Writ of Certiorari challenging the summary affirmance and the
nited States Supreme Court denied the request on October 4, 1993.

On December 8, 1993, Howard returned to federal court and filed a new
pro se habeas petition rather than Iifting the stay in the previous petition. After
almost three years, on September 2, 1996, the federal district court dismissed
the petition as inadequate and ordered Howard to file a second amended
federal petition that contained more than conclusory allegations. Thereafter
Howard, now represented by Patricia Erickson, filed a Second Amended
Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus on January 27, 1997.  After almost five
years, on September 23, 2002, the Second Amended Federal petition was
stayed for Howard to again exhaust his federal claims in state court.

Howard filed his third State petition for ﬁost-conviction relief on
December 20, 2002. Patricia Erickson represented him on this petition. The

etition asserted the following claims, phrased generally as denial of a
undamentally fair trial or assistance of counsel under the Fifth, Sixth and
Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution or as cruel and
unusual punishment under the Eighth Amendment: 1) failure to sever Sears
robbery count from Monahan robbery/murder counts; 2) failure to suppress
Howard’s statements to LVMPD and physical evidence derived therefrom; 3)
speedy trial violation; 4) trial counsel actual conflict of interest — Jackson
issue; 5) failure to give accomplice as a matter of law and accomplice
testimony should be viewed with distrust instructions — Dwana Thomas; 6)
Improper jury instructions — diluting standard of proof - reasonable doubt,
second degree murder as lesser included of first degree murder, premeditation,
intent and malice instructions; 7) improper jury instructions — failure to clearly
define first degree murder as specific intent crime requiring malice and
Bremedltat_lon; 8) improper premeditation instruction blurred distinction
petween first and second degree murder; 9) improper malice instruction; 10)
improper anti-sympathy instruction; 11) failure to give influence of extreme
mental or emotional disturbance mitigator instruction; 12) improper limitation
of mitigation by giving only “any other mitigating circumstance” instruction;
13) failure to Instruct that mitigating circumstances findings need not be
unanimous; 14) prosecutorial misconduct — jury tampering, stating personal
beliefs, personal endorsement of death penalty, improper argument regarding
rehabilitation, escape and future killings; comparing Howard and victim’s
lives, comparing Howard to notorious murder (C%arles Manson) and improper
community benefit argument; 15) use of felony robbery as aggravator and
basis for first degree murder; 16) improper reasonable doubt instruction; 17)
ineffective assistance of trial counsel — inadequate contact, conflict of interest,
failure to contact California counsel to obtain records, failure to obtain Patton
and Atescadero hospital records, failure to obtain California trial transcripts,
failure to review Clark County Detention Center medical records, failure to
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challenge competency to stand trial, failure to obtain suppression hearing,
failure to present legal insanity, failure to object to reasonable doubt
instruction, failure to view visiting records and call witnesses based upon
same, failure to call Pinkie Williams and Carol Walker in penalty phase,
failure to investigate and call Benjamin Evans in penalty phase, failure to
obtain San Bernardino medical records regarding suicide attempt, failure to
obtain military records, failure to adequately explain concept of mitigation
evidence, failure to object to prosecutorial misconduct in closing arguments,
failure to refute future dangerousness argument, failure to object to trial court’s
limitation of mitigating circumstances and failure to object to instructions
which allegedly required unanimous finding of mitigating circumstances; 18)
ineffective assistance of appellate counsel — failed to raise claims 3, 4, 6-9, 12,
13, 15, 16, 20 and 21 on appeal; 19) ineffective assistance of post-conviction
counsel — failure to adequately investigate and develop all trial and appeal
claims; 20) cumulative error; 21) Nevada’s death penalty is administered in an
arbitrary, irrational and capricious fashion; 22) let aI_|n|Ject|on constitutes cruel
a?% unusual punishment and 23) the death penalty violates evolving standards
of decency.

Thg State filed a motion to dismiss Howard’s third State petition on
March 4, 2001. The State argued that the entire petition was 8roc_edural|y
barred under NRS 34.726(1) (one year limit) and NRS 34.800 (five year
laches) and that Howard had not shown good cause for delay in raising the
claims to overcome the procedural bars. The State also analyzed each claim
and noted what issues had already been raised and decided adversely to
Howard or should have been raised and were waived under NRS 34.810.

Howard filed an amended third State petition. The amended petition
expanded the factual matters under Claim 17 regarding Howard’s family
background that Howard asserted should have been presented in mitigation.

~ On August 20, 2003, Howard filed his opposition to the State’s motion
to dismiss his third State petition. As good cause for delay, Howard alleged
Nevada’s successive petition and waiver bar (NRS 34.810) is inconsistently
applied and Pellegrini v. State, 117 Nev. 860, 34 P.3d 519 (2001) is not
controlling. Howard contended NRS 34.726 did not apply because any delay
was the fault of counsel not Howard and NRS 34.726 is unconstitutional and
cannot be applied to successive petitions Pellegrini notwithstanding. Howard
argued the Due process and Equal Protection clauses of the Federal
Constitution bar application of NRS 34.726, NRS 34.800 and NRS 34.810 to
Howard. In addition, Howard asserted NRS 34.800 did not apply because the
State had not shown prejudice and the presumption of prejudice was overcome
by the allegations in the petition.

The State filed a reply to the opposition on September 24, 2003. The
district court issued an oral decision on October 2, 2003 dismissing the third
State petition as procedurally barred under NRS 34.726 and flndm% Howard
had failed to overcome the bar by showing good cause for delay. The district
court also independently dismissed the claims under NRS 34.810. Written
findings were entered on October 23, 2003. _

Howard appealed the dismissal to the Nevada Supreme Court, which
affirmed the district court’s dismissal of the third State petition on December
4, 2004. The High Court addressed Howard’s assertions that he had either
overcome the procedural bars or they could not constltutlonal(ljy be applied to
him and rejected them. Amon?1 its conclusions, the Court noted that the record
reflected Howard was aware that all his claims challenging the conviction or
imposition of sentence must be joined in a single petition and that Howard had
no right to post-conviction counsel at the time of the filing of his first and
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second State petitions for post-conviction relief and hence ineffectiveness of
post-conviction counsel could not be good cause for delay.’ _ o

Howard then returned to Federal district court where he filed his Third
Amended Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus on October 23, 2005.
Subsequently, without seeking approval from the Federal Court, the Federal
Public Defender’s Office filed, on Howard’s behalf, the current Fourth State
Post-Conviction Petition on October 27, 2007. The State filed a motion to
dismiss the Fourth State Petition on April 8, 2008. The parties agreed to stay
this case for several months while Howard sought permission from the Federal
District Court to hold his federal petition for post-conviction habeas corpus in
abeyance pending exhaustion of the claims already filed in the Fourth State
Petition and of new claims he wished to file in State court as a result of the
Ninth Circuit’s decision in Polk v. Sandoval, 503 F.3d 903, 910 (9" Cir. 2007).

The United States District Court denied Howards’” motion for stay and
abeyance on January 9, 2009. Thereafter, Howard filed an Opposition to the
State’s original motion to dismiss and an Amended Petition on February 24,
2009. The State responded to Howard’s opposition to the original motion to
dismiss and additionally moved to dismiss the Amended Fourth Petition on
October 7, 2009.2 Howard filed an Opposition to the Amended Motion to
Dismiss on December 18, 2009. Howard filed supplemental authorities on
January 5, 2010.

Argument on the State’s motion to dismiss was heard on February 4,
2010. The matter was taken under advisement so the district court could
review the extensive record. A Minute Order Decision was issued on May 13,
2010 dismissing the Fourth State Petition as procedurally barred.

Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order, filed November 6, 2010, p. 1-12 (footnotes
in original).

This Court denied Petitioner’s fourth habeas petition. Findings of Fact, Conclusions
of Law and Order, filed November 6, 2010, p. 26-33. Petitioner challenged this Court’s
decision before the Nevada Supreme Court. Notice of Appeal, filed on December 21, 2010.
Prior to ruling on this Court’s fourth denial of habeas relief, the Nevada Supreme Court

issued an opinion in Howard v. State, ~ Nev. , 291 P.3d 137 (2012), addressing the

sealing of documents. The Federal Public Defender (FPD) filed a motion in the Supreme
Court to substitute counsel that included information that was potentially embarrassing to
one or more current or former FPD attorneys as well as a prior private attorney who had

represented Howard. Id. at _, 291 P.3d at 139. A cover sheet indicated that the motion was

7 See 1987 Nev. Stat., ch. 539, § 42 at 1230 (providing that appointment of counsel was discretionary not mandatory).

8 Although both defense counsel and this Court received a copy of the Opposition and Amended Motion to Dismiss, for
some reason it was not filed. This Court authorized the District Attorney’s Office to file a Notice of Errata and attach a
copy of the previously distributed Opposition and Amended Motion to Dismiss. This was filed on February 4, 2010.
Subsequently, the missing document was located and the original Amended Motion to Dismiss was officially filed on
May 11, 2010.
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sealed but the FPD failed to file a separate motion to seal the pleading. 1d. The Court
concluded that the FPD had not properly moved to seal and that sealing was unjustified. Id.
at _, 291 P.3d at 145. Ultimately, the Court affirmed this Court’s denial of habeas relief.
Order of Affirmance, filed July 30, 2014, attached to Clerk’s Certificate, filed October 24,
2014. The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari. Howard v. Nevada,  U.S. |
135 S.Ct. 2908 (2015).

The instant Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction) (Fifth Petition) was

filed on October 5, 2016. Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction), October 5,
2016.
ARGUMENT
Petitioner’s Hurst v. Florida, 577 U.S. __, 136 S.Ct. 616 (2016), claim must be denied

and/or dismissed as untimely, presumptively prejudicial, waived and abusive pursuant to
NRS 34.726, NRS 34.800 and NRS 34.810.
l. The Fifth Petition is Procedurally Barred

A. Application of Procedural Bars is Mandatory

The one-year time bar of NRS 34.726 is strictly construed. Gonzales v. State, 118
Nev. 590, 593-596, 53 P.3d 901, 902-904 (rejected post-conviction petition filed two days

late pursuant to the “clear and unambiguous™ provisions of NRS 34.726(1)). Further, the
district courts have a duty to consider whether post-conviction claims are procedurally

barred. State v. Eighth Judicial District Court (Riker), 121 Nev. 225, 234, 112 P.3d 1070,

1076 (2005). The Nevada Supreme Court has found that “[a]pplication of the statutory

procedural default rules to post-conviction habeas petitions is mandatory,” noting:

Habeas corpus petitions that are filed many years after conviction are an
unreasonable burden on the criminal justice system. The necessity for a
workable system dictates that there must exist a time when a criminal
conviction is final.

Id., at 231, 112 P.3d at 1074. Additionally, the Court held that procedural bars “cannot be
ignored when properly raised by the State.” Id., at 233, 112 P.3d at 1075. The Nevada

Supreme Court has granted no discretion to the district courts regarding whether to apply the
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statutory procedural bars.
B. NRS 34.726(1)

NRS 34.726(1) states that “unless there is good cause shown for delay, a petition that
challenges the validity of a judgment or sentence must be filed within 1 year after entry of
the judgment of conviction or, if an appeal has been taken from the judgment, within 1 year
after the Supreme Court issues its remittitur.” The one-year time bar is strictly construed and
enforced. Gonzales, 118 Nev. 590, 53 P.3d 901. The Nevada Supreme Court has held that
the “clear and unambiguous” provisions of NRS 34.726(1) demonstrate an “intolerance
toward perpetual filing of petitions for relief, which clogs the court system and undermines
the finality of convictions.” Pellegrini v. State, 117 Nev. 860, 875, 34 P.3d 519, 529 (2001).
For cases that arose before NRS 34.726 took effect on January 1, 1993, the deadline for
filing a petition extended to January 1, 1994. Id. at 869, 34 P.3d at 525.

Remittitur issued from Petitioner’s direct appeal on February 12, 1988. Findings of
Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order, filed November 6, 2010, p. 5. Therefore, Petitioner
had until January 1, 1994, to file a timely habeas petition. Petitioner filed the Fifth Petition
on October 5, 2016. As such, the Fifth Petition is time barred.

Even if the one-year rule did not begin to run until Petitioner’s challenge to the
Nevada Supreme Court’s reweighing decision was indisputably available, the Fifth Petition
Is still time barred. Petitioner’s contention is that a new penalty hearing is required due to
the combination of the Nevada Supreme Court’s invalidation of an aggravating circumstance

on appeal of the Fourth Petition and Hurst. Fifth Petition, p. 7-8. It is undisputable that

Hurst was published in 2016; however, Hurst was merely an application of Ring v. Arizona,
536 U.S. 584, 122 S. Ct. 2428 (2002). Hurst, 577 U.S. at __, 136 S.Ct. at 621-22 (“[t]he

analysis the Ring Court applied to Arizona’s sentencing scheme applies equally to
Florida’s”). Ring was published on June 24, 2002. Remittitur issued from the Nevada
Supreme Court’s decision invalidating an aggravating circumstance and reweighing on
October 20, 2014. Remittitur, dated October 20, 2014, attached to Clerk’s Certificate, filed

October 24, 2014. Under the most favorable analysis possible, Petitioner had until October
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20, 2015, to bring a Ring challenge against the Nevada Supreme Court’s reweighing
decision.

C.  NRS34.800

NRS 34.800 recognizes that a post-conviction petition should be dismissed when
delay in presenting issues would prejudice the State in responding to the petition or in retrial.
NRS 34.800(1). NRS 34.800(2) creates a rebuttable presumption of prejudice to the State if
“[a] period of five years [elapses] between the filing of a judgment of conviction, an order
imposing sentence of imprisonment or a decision on direct appeal of a judgment of
conviction and the filing of a petition challenging the validity of a judgment of conviction.”
See also, Groesbeck v. Warden, 100 Nev. 259, 260, 679 P.2d 1268, 1269 (1984), superseded
by statute as recognized by, Hart v. State, 116 Nev. 558, 1 P.3d 969 (2000) (“petitions that

are filed many years after conviction are an unreasonable burden on the criminal justice
system. The necessity for a workable system dictates that there must exist a time when a
criminal conviction is final.”).

To invoke the presumption, the statute requires that the State specifically plead
presumptive prejudice. NRS 34.800(2). More than five years has passed since remittitur
issued from Petitioner’s direct appeal on February 12, 1988. Findings of Fact, Conclusions
of Law and Order, filed November 6, 2010, p. 5. Indeed, almost twenty-nine years have
passed since Petitioner’s direct appeal was final. As such, the State pleads statutory laches
under NRS 34.800(2) and prejudice under NRS 34.800(1) against the Fifth Petition. After
such a passage of time, the State is prejudiced in its ability to answer the Fifth Petition and
retry the penalty-phase. If Petitioner’s fifth go around on state post-conviction review is not
dismissed or denied on the procedural bars, the State will be forced to track down witnesses
who may have died or retired in order to prove a case that is several decades old. Assuming
witnesses are available, their memories have certainly faded and they will not present to a
jury the same way they did in 1983.

D. NRS 34.810

Petitioner’s fifth attempt at state habeas relief must be dismissed on waiver grounds
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and as an abuse of the writ.
Claims that could have been raised on direct appeal or in a prior petition are barred
under NRS 34.810(1)(b):

The court shall dismiss a petition if the court determines that:

(b) The petitioner’s conviction was the result of a trial and the grounds for the
petition could have been:
(1) Presented to the trial court;
(2) Raised in a direct appeal or a prior petition for a writ of habeas
corpus or post-conviction relief, unless the court finds both cause for
the failure to present the grounds and actual prejudice to the petitioner.

(Emphasis added). The failure to raise grounds for relief at the first opportunity is an abuse
of the writ. NRS 34.810(2).

Nevada law dictates that all claims appropriate for direct appeal must be pursued on
direct appeal or they will be “considered waived in subsequent proceedings.” Franklin v.
State, 110 Nev. 750, 752, 877 P.2d 1058, 1059 (1994), disapproved on other grounds,
Thomas v. State, 115 Nev. 148, 979 P.2d 222 (1999). The Nevada Supreme Court has

emphasized that: “[a] court must dismiss a habeas petition if it presents claims that either
were or could have been presented in an earlier proceeding, unless the court finds both cause
for failing to present the claims earlier or for raising them again and actual prejudice to the
petitioner.” Evans v. State, 117 Nev. 609, 646-47, 29 P.3d 498, 523 (2001) (emphasis

added). Where a claim arises after direct appeal, a petitioner has one year in which to file a

petition alleging the claim or it too is barred. Rippo v. State, 132 Nev. _, , 368 P.3d 729,

734 (2016) (“[A] petition ... has been filed within a reasonable time after the ... claim
became available so long as it is filed within one year after entry of the district court’s order
disposing of the prior petition or, if a timely appeal was taken from the district court’s order,
within one year after this court issues its remittitur.”).

Petitioner’s Hurst claim is barred by NRS 34.810(1)(b)(2) as waived and by NRS

34.810(2) as an abuse of the writ since it was not raised within a year of when it became
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available to him. Petitioner’s contention is that a new penalty hearing is required due to the
combination of the Nevada Supreme Court’s invalidation of an aggravating circumstance on

appeal of the Fourth Petition and Hurst. Fifth Petition, p. 7-8. It is undisputable that Hurst

was published in 2016; however, Hurst was merely an application of Ring v. Arizona, 536
U.S. 584, 122 S. Ct. 2428 (2002). Hurst, 577 U.S. at __, 136 S.Ct. at 621-22 (“[t]he analysis

the Ring Court applied to Arizona’s sentencing scheme applies equally to Florida’s”). Ring
was published on June 24, 2002. Remittitur issued from the Nevada Supreme Court’s
decision invalidating an aggravating circumstance and reweighing on October 20, 2014.
Remittitur, dated October 20, 2014, attached to Clerk’s Certificate, filed October 24, 2014.
Under the most favorable analysis possible, Petitioner had until October 20, 2015, to bring a
Ring challenge against the Nevada Supreme Court’s reweighing decision.

1. Petitioner Fails to Justify lgnoring the Procedural Bars

This Court cannot disregard the procedural bars because Petitioner has failed to prove
good cause, prejudice and/or actual innocence.

To overcome the procedural bars, a petitioner must demonstrate: (1) good cause for
delay in filing his petition or for bringing new claims or repeating claims in a successive
petition; and (2) undue or actual prejudice. NRS 34.726(1); NRS 34.800(1); NRS 34.810(3).
To establish prejudice “a petitioner must show that errors in the proceedings underlying the
judgment worked to the petitioner’s actual and substantial disadvantage.” State v. Huebler,

128 Nev. _, _, 275P.3d 91, 94-95 (2012), cert. denied,  U.S. _, 133 S.Ct. 988 (2013).

“To establish good cause, petitioners must show that an impediment external to the
defense prevented their compliance with the applicable procedural rule. A qualifying
impediment might be shown where the factual or legal basis for a claim was not reasonably
available at the time of default.” Clem v. State, 119 Nev. 615, 621, 81 P.3d 521, 525 (2003),
rehearing denied, 120 Nev. 307, 91 P.3d 35 cert. denied, 543 U.S. 947, 125 S.Ct. 358 (2004);
see also, Hathaway v. State, 119 Nev. 248, 251, 71 P.3d 503, 506 (2003) (“In order to

demonstrate good cause, a petitioner must show that an impediment external to the defense

prevented him or her from complying with the state procedural default rules); Pellegrini,
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117 Nev. at 887, 34 P.3d at 537 (neither ineffective assistance of counsel, nor a physician’s
declaration in support of a habeas petition were sufficient “good cause” to overcome a
procedural default, whereas finding by Supreme Court that defendant was suffering from
Multiple Personality Disorder was). An external impediment could be “that the factual or
legal basis for a claim was not reasonably available to counsel, or that ‘some interference by
officials’ made compliance impracticable.” ld. (quoting, Murray v. Carrier, 477 U.S. 478,
488, 106 S.Ct. 2639, 2645 (1986)); see also, Gonzalez, 118 Nev. at 595, 53 P.3d at 904
(citing Harris v. Warden, 114 Nev. 956, 959-60 n.4, 964 P.2d 785 n.4 (1998)).

The Nevada Supreme Court has held that, “appellants cannot attempt to manufacture
good cause[.]” Clem, 119 Nev. at 621, 81 P.3d at 526. To find good cause there must be a
“substantial reason; one that affords a legal excuse.” Hathaway, 119 Nev. at 251, 71 P.3d at
506; (quoting, Colley v. State, 105 Nev. 235, 236, 773 P.2d 1229, 1230 (1989), superseded

by statute as recognized by, Huebler, 128 Nev. at __, 275 P.3d at 95, footnote 2). Excuses
such as the lack of assistance of counsel when preparing a petition as well as the failure of
trial counsel to forward a copy of the file to a petitioner have been found not to constitute
good cause. Phelps v. Dir. Nev. Dep’t of Prisons, 104 Nev. 656, 660, 764 P.2d 1303, 1306
(1988), superseded by statute as recognized by, Nika v. State, 120 Nev. 600, 607, 97 P.3d
1140, 1145 (2004); Hood v. State, 111 Nev. 335, 890 P.2d 797 (1995).

Even when a petitioner cannot show good cause sufficient to overcome the procedural
bars, habeas relief may still be granted if he can demonstrate a fundamental miscarriage of
justice. Pellegrini, 117 Nev. at 887, 34 P.3d at 537. In order to prove a fundamental
miscarriage of justice, a petitioner must make ‘““a colorable showing he is actually innocent of

the crime or is ineligible for the death penalty.” Id. (citation omitted). Actual innocence

means factual innocence not mere legal insufficiency. Bousley v. United States, 523 U.S.
614, 623, 118 S.Ct. 1604, 1611 (1998); Sawyer v. Whitley, 505 U.S. 333, 338-39, 112 S.Ct.

2514, 2518-19 (1992). To establish actual innocence of a crime, a petitioner “must show
that it is more likely than not that no reasonable juror would have convicted him absent a

constitutional violation.” Pellegrini, 117 Nev. at 887, 34 P.3d at 537. However, “[w]ithout
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any new evidence of innocence, even the existence of a concededly meritorious
constitutional violation is not itself sufficient to establish a miscarriage of justice that would
allow a habeas court to reach the merits of the barred claim.” Schlup v. Delo, 513 U.S. 298,
316, 115 S. Ct. 851, 861 (1995) (emphasis added).

Actual innocence is a stringent standard designed to be applied only in the most
extraordinary situations. 1d.; Pellegrini, 117 Nev. at 876, 34 P.3d at 530. The Eighth Circuit
Court of Appeals has “rejected free-standing claims of actual innocence as a basis for habeas
review stating, ‘[c]laims of actual innocence based on newly discovered evidence have never
been held to state a ground for federal habeas relief absent an independent constitutional
violation occurring in the underlying state criminal proceeding.”” Meadows v. Delo, 99 F.3d
280, 283 (8™ Cir. 1996) (citing Herrera v. Collins, 506 U.S. 390, 400, 113 S. Ct. 853, 860

(1993)). A defendant claiming actual innocence must demonstrate that it is more likely than

not that no reasonable juror would have convicted him absent a constitutional violation.
Pellegrini, 117 Nev. at 887, 34 P.3d at 537. Once a defendant has made such a showing, he
may then use the claim of actual innocence as a “gateway” to present his constitutional
challenges to the court and require the court to decide them on the merits. Schlup, 513 U.S.
at 315, 115 S. Ct. at 861. Furthermore, the newly discovered evidence suggesting the
defendant’s innocence must be “so strong that a court cannot have confidence in the outcome
of the trial.” Id. at 316, 115 S.Ct. at 861.

“Where the petitioner has argued that the procedural default should be ignored
because he is actually ineligible for the death penalty, he must show by clear and convincing
evidence that, but for a constitutional error, no reasonable juror would have found him death
eligible.” Pellegrini, 117 Nev. at 887, 34 P.3d at 537. To establish innocence of capital
punishment sufficient to waive a procedural default, a petitioner must eliminate every

aggravating circumstance. Sawyer v. Whitley, 505 U.S. 333, 347, 112 S.Ct. 1514, 2523

(1992). In addition, any new evidence regarding mitigating factors is not considered in an
“actual innocence” death eligibility determination. Sawyer, 505 U.S. at 345-346, 112 S.Ct.

at 2522. Notably, the “actual innocence” requirement focuses exclusively on those elements
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that render a defendant eligible for the death penalty; any additional mitigating evidence that
was not presented at trial — even if it was the result of alleged constitutional errors — is
irrelevant and will not be considered in an actual innocence determination. 1d. at 347-48, at
2523-24.

A. Petitioner concedes the Fifth Petition is Barred without Justification

The failure of the Fifth Petition to address the procedural bars should be deemed an
admission that Petitioner cannot demonstrate good cause, prejudice and/or actual innocence
sufficient to ignore his procedural defaults.

It is beyond question that defense knew the procedural bars would be central to this
Court’s adjudication of the Fifth Petition. This is Petitioner’s fifth attempt at post-conviction
relief in Nevada. The Federal Public Defender (FPD), an agency that purports to have great
expertise in capital habeas litigation, represents Petitioner. Even a cursory examination of
the Nevada Supreme Court’s affirmation of this Court’s denial of the Fourth Petition, a

document that is central to Petitioner’s Hurst complaint, would have put defense on notice of

the need to address the procedural bars. Indeed, the Procedural Allegations section of the
Fifth Petition acknowledges that prior petitions have been disposed of based on the
procedural bars, admits that the Fifth Petition was filed more than a year after direct appeal
remittitur and alleges that this is the first opportunity to present Petitioner’s Hurst claim.

Fifth Petition, p. 2-7.

Clearly, Petitioner was aware that the Fifth Petition is procedurally barred. Yet the
Fifth Petition is silent on good cause, prejudice and actual innocence. The State submits that
this was a bad faith attempt to subvert the adversarial process. Petitioner sought to deny
Respondent any meaningful opportunity to address his specific arguments by reserving them
for his reply. The Nevada Supreme Court has strongly urged prosecutors to make a record
of defense misconduct so that the Court can address it on appeal. Williams v. State, 103
Nev. 106, 111, 734 P.2d 700, 703-04 (1987).° Regardless, this Court should not aid and abet

® This misconduct seems to be a symptom of a larger problem. Unfortunately, the FPD’s institutional culture evidences
an almost religiously militant opposition to the death penalty, such that all other concerns are sacrificed for the cause.
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such skullduggery. Instead, this Court should deem Petitioner’s failure to address his
procedural defaults as an admission that he cannot demonstrate good cause, prejudice and or
actual innocence sufficient to justify ignoring the procedural bars. See, Polk v. State, 126
Nev. , 233 P.3d 357, 360-61 (2010); District Court Rules 13(2); Eighth Judicial
District Court Rules 3.20(b).

B. No Good Cause

Petitioner’s failure to prosecute his Ring / Hurst complaint within one year of when it
became available precludes a finding of good cause.

Petitioner’s contention IS that a new penalty hearing is required due to the
combination of the Nevada Supreme Court’s invalidation of an aggravating circumstance on

appeal of the Fourth Petition and Hurst. Fifth Petition, p. 7-8. It is undisputable that Hurst

was published in 2016; however, Hurst was merely an application of Ring v. Arizona, 536
U.S. 584, 122 S. Ct. 2428 (2002). Hurst, 577 U.S. at __, 136 S.Ct. at 621-22 (“[t]he analysis

the Ring Court applied to Arizona’s sentencing scheme applies equally to Florida’s”). Ring
was published on June 24, 2002. Remittitur issued from the Nevada Supreme Court’s
decision invalidating an aggravating circumstance and reweighing on October 20, 2014.
Remittitur, dated October 20, 2014, attached to Clerk’s Certificate, filed October 24, 2014.
As such, this complaint has been available to Petitioner at least since October 20, 2014. As
such, Petitioner had until October 20, 2015, to file this claim. Rippo, 132 Nev. at __, 368
P.3d at 734 (“[A] petition ... has been filed within a reasonable time after the ... claim
became available so long as it is filed within one year after entry of the district court’s order

disposing of the prior petition or, if a timely appeal was taken from the district court’s order,

See, Rhines v. Weber, 544 U.S. 269, 277-78, 125 S.Ct. 1528, 1535 (2005) (“capital petitioners might deliberately engage
in dilatory tactics to prolong their incarceration and avoid execution of the sentence of death”); In re Reno, 55 Cal.4™
428, 515, 283 P.3d 1181, 1246 (Cal. 2012) (“death row inmates have an incentive to delay assertion of habeas corpus
claims”); Commonwealth v. Spotz, 610 Pa. 17, 160-93, 18 A.3d 244, 329-49 (Pa. 2011) (concurrence of Chief Justice
Castille criticizing FPD for intentional delay of capital habeas proceedings; describing FPD pleadings as prolific,
abusive and offered in bad faith; and FPD strategies as ethically dubious); Debra Cassens Weiss, Federal PDs have 40
days to explain inmate’s letter saying he didn’t authorize SCOTUS appeal, ABA Journal (July 1, 2014) (available
http://www.abajournal.com/news/article/federal _pds have 40 days to explain_inmates letter saying_he didnt author
iz).
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within one year after this court issues its remittitur.”).

Petitioner cannot demonstrate an impediment external to the defense since both Ring
and the Nevada Supreme Court’s decision on appeal of the Fourth Petition are matters of
public record. Petitioner will undoubtedly argue that his change in law impediment should
be counted from Hurst and not Ring. “Good cause for failing to file a timely petition or raise
a claim in a previous proceeding may be established where the factual or legal basis for the
claim was not reasonably available.” Bejarano v. State, 122 Nev. 1066, 1073, 146 P.3d 265,

270 (2006). Here the factual impediment would be the date of remittitur from the Fourth
Petition. The issue is when the legal basis arose for Petitioner’s newest claim. Petitioner
wants to count from Hurst because it resets the clock and makes his filing timely. However,
Hurst was merely an application of Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584, 122 S. Ct. 2428 (2002).
Hurst, 577 U.S. at __, 136 S.Ct. at 621-22 (“[t]he analysis the Ring Court applied to

Arizona’s sentencing scheme applies equally to Florida’s”). The entirety of the United

States Court’s discussion in Hurst focused on applying Ring to the case before it. 1d. The

Court ended by concluding:

As with Timothy Ring, the maximum punishment Timothy Hurst could have

received without any judge-made findings was life in prison without parole. As

with Ring, a judge increased Hurst’s authorized punishment based on her own

ECtﬁn(?ing' In light of Ring, we hold that Hurst’s sentence violates the Sixth
mendment.

Id. at _, 136 S.Ct. at 622. Petitioner cannot use Hurst to bootstrap himself into a timely

Ring complaint. Crump v. State, 2016 Nev. Unpub. Lexis 374, p. 6-7, footnote 5 (“Riley

would not provide good cause as it relies on Hern, which has been available for decades™).°

Nor can Petitioner fall back on allegations of ineffectiveness of prior post-conviction
counsel for failing to raise a Ring challenge in a timely fashion since the FPD has
represented Petitioner since at least the appeal of the Fourth Petition. Remittitur, dated

October 20, 2014, attached to Clerk’s Certificate, filed October 24, 2014. Further, the

10 Citation to the unpublished opinion in Crump as persuasive authority is permissible. NRAP 36(c)(3) (“A party may
cite for its persuasive value, if any, an unpublished disposition issued by this court on or after January 1, 2016.”); MB
America Inc. v. Alaska Pacific Leasing Company, 123 Nev. Ad. Op. 8, 15, n.1 (Feb. 4, 2016) (allowing citation to
unpublished orders, entered on or after January 1, 2016, for their persuasive value).
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decision to litigate in federal court does not excuse Petitioner’s failure to comply with
Nevada’s procedural default rules. Colley v. State, 105 Nev. 235, 236, 773 P.2d 1229, 1230
(1989), abrogated on other grounds, Huebler, 128 Nev. at 197, footnote 2, 275 P.3d at 95,

footnote 2.

C. Insufficient Prejudice

Petitioner cannot establish “that errors in the proceedings underlying the judgment
worked to the petitioner’s actual and substantial disadvantage.” Huebler, 128 Nev. at
275 P.3d at 94-95. Hurst does not apply retroactively to Petitioner. Even if it did, Petitioner
received the process he was due under Ring.

1. Hurst Applies Prospectively Only

Hurst is an application of Ring. As explained supra, Hurst ruled that “[t]he analysis
the Ring Court applied to Arizona’s sentencing scheme applies equally to Florida’s.” Hurst,
577 U.S.at __, 136 S.Ct. at 621-22. The entirety of this Court’s discussion in Hurst focused
on applying Ring to the case before it. 1d. The Court ended by concluding:

As with Timothy Ring, the maximum punishment Timothy Hurst could have

received without any judge-made findings was life in prison without parole. As

with Ring, a judge increased Hurst’s authorized punishment based on her own

ECtﬁn(?ing' In light of Ring, we hold that Hurst’s sentence violates the Sixth
mendment.

Id. at __, 136 S.Ct. at 622.
The United States Supreme Court addressed the retroactivity of Ring in Schriro v.

Summerlin, 542 U.S. 348, 351-59, 124 S.Ct. 2519, 2522-27 (2004). After an extensive

analysis, Schriro concluded that “Ring announced a new procedural rule that does not apply
retroactively to cases already final[.]” 1d. at 358, 124 S.Ct. at 2526-27. Petitioner’s
conviction was final with the 1988 remittitur from his direct appeal. As such, even
Petitioner’s expansive reading of Ring and Hurst does not afford him relief since those
precedents do not apply to his case.

2. Reweighing is Appropriate after Invalidating an Aggravator

The essence of Petitioner’s complaint is that appellate reweighing or harmless error

review amounts to judicial fact finding. Fifth Petition, p. 7. The fundamental flaw in
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Petitioner’s argument is that an appellate court does not make factual findings when it
evaluates whether a jury would have imposed a death verdict absent an invalid aggravating
circumstance. Rather, a court applying reweighing or harmless error analysis relies upon
factual determinations made by a jury.

Ring applied Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 120 S. Ct. 2348 (2000), to

Arizona’s death penalty scheme, which allowed a judge to determine whether a statutory
aggravating circumstance existed. The Ring Court determined that “[b]ecause Arizona’s
enumerated aggravating factors operate as ‘the functional equivalent of an element of a
greater offense,” ... the Sixth Amendment requires that they be found by a jury.” Ring, 536
U.S. at 609, 122 S. Ct. at 2443. Similarly, Hurst concluded:

The Sixth Amendment protects a defendant’s right to an impartial jury. This
right required Florida to base Timothy Hurst’s death sentence on a jury’s
verdict, not a judge’s factfinding. Florida’s sentencing scheme, which required
the judge alone to find the existence of an aggravating circumstance, is
therefore unconstitutional.

Hurst, 577 U.S. at __, 136 S.Ct. at 624.

Nevada capital penalty proceedings comply with the requirements of Apprendi, Ring

and Hurst:

At the penalty phase of a capital trial in Nevada, the jury determines whether
any aggravating circumstances have been proven beyond a reasonable doubt
and whether anP/ mitigating circumstances exist. NRS 175.554(2), (4). If the
jury unanimously finds that at least one statutory aggravating circumstance has

een proven beyond a reasonable doubt, the jury must also determine whether
there are mitigating circumstances ‘sufficient to outweigh the aggravating
circumstance or circumstances found.” NRS 175.554(3).

Nunnery v. State, 127 Nev. 749, 772, 263 P.3d 235, 251(2011).
In Clemons v. Mississippi, 494 U.S. 738, 110 S. Ct. 1441 (1990), the United States

Supreme Court found it constitutionally permissible for an appellate court to uphold a death
sentence imposed by a jury upon invalidation of an aggravating factor, if the court conducts
a harmless error or a reweighing analysis. 1d. at 744, 110 S. Ct. at 1446. While Court
rejected the notion that “state appellate courts are required to or necessarily should engage in
reweighing or harmless-error analysis when errors have occurred in a capital sentencing

proceeding,” such review was constitutionally permissible. Id. at 754, 110 S. Ct. at 1451.

H:\P D24ME Docs\Howard, Samuel, 81C053867- Opp and Mtn Dismiss Fifth PWHC.

App. 155




© 00 N oo o A W N P

N NN N N N N NDN P B P PR R R R R e
0 N o O A W N P O © 0 N ©o o b W N P O

The Nevada Supreme Court resolved the question left to it by the United States

Supreme Court as follows:

A death sentence based in part on an invalid aggravator may be upheld either
by reweighing the aggravating and mitigating evidence or conducting a
harmless-error review. If this Court cannot conclude beyond a reasonable
doubt that the jury would have imposed death absent the erroneous aggravatin
circumstance, J[the Nevada Supreme Court] must vacate the death sentence an
remand the matter to the district court for a new penalty hearing.

Archanian v. State, 122 Nev. 1019, 1040, 145 P.3d 1008, 1023 (2006) (footnote omitted).

Petitioner’s radical expansion of Ring and Hurst would require abandonment of

Clemons. Such an outcome is contrary to the great weight of authority. Indeed, the United
States Supreme Court has arguably already rejected Petitioner’s contention. Ring
specifically noted that Ring “does not question the Arizona Supreme Court’s authority to
reweigh the aggravating and mitigating circumstances after that court struck one
aggravator.” Ring, 536 U.S. at 597, footnote 4, 122 S.Ct. at 2437, footnote 4. Both Hurst
and Ring noted the availability of harmless error review on remand. Hurst, 577 U.S. at ___,
136 S.Ct. at 624; Ring, 536 U.S. at 609, footnote.7, 122 S. Ct. at 2443, footnote 7. Further,
in Brown v. Sanders, 546 U.S. 212, 217, 126 S. Ct. 884, 890 (2006), the United States

Supreme Court acknowledged the ability of courts in weighing states to engage in harmless
error review or reweighing upon invalidating an aggravator. Brown applied a similar
analysis to California’s non-weighing death penalty scheme, determining that “[a]n
invalidated sentencing factor (whether an eligibility factor or not) will render the sentence
unconstitutional by reason of its adding an improper element to the aggravation scale in the
weighing process unless one of the other sentencing factors enables the sentencer to give
aggravating weight to the same facts and circumstances.” Id. at 220, 126 S. Ct. at 892
(footnote omitted). The Court then determined that the invalidated aggravator “could not
have ‘skewed’ the sentence, and no constitutional violation occurred.” Id. at 223, 126 S. Ct.
at 894.

The Nevada Supreme Court has relied upon Clemons to hold that reweighing in the

face of an invalid aggravating circumstance was appropriate. Bridges v. State, 116 Nev.
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752, 766, 6 P.3d 1000, 1010 (2000). Nevada is not alone among the states in approving of
Clemons reweighing and/or harmless error review. State v. Abdullah, 158 Idaho 386, 470-
71, 348 P.3d 1, 79 (2015); State v. Kirkland, 140 Ohio St. 3d 73, 86-87, 15 N.E.3d 818, 834
(2014); Gillett v. State, 148 So0.3d 260, 267-69 (Miss. 2014); State v. Berger, 2014 SD 61
31 n.8, 853 N.W.2d 45, 57 n.8 (2014); State v. Hausner, 230 Ariz. 60, 84, 280 P.3d 604, 628
(2012); State v. Sandoval, 280 Neb. 309, 357-58, 364, 788 N.W.2d 172, 214-15, 218 (2010);
Billups v. State, 72 So. 3d 122, 134 (Ala. Crim. App. 2010); People v. Mungia, 44 Cal. 4th
1101, 1139, 189 P.3d 880, 907 (2008); State v. Rice, 184 S.W.3d 646, 677 (Tenn. 2006);
Myers v. State, 2006 OK CR 12, 11 105-115, 133 P.3d 312, 336-37 (Okla. Crim. App.
2006); Lambert v. State, 825 N.E.2d 1261, 1263 (Ind. 2005); State v. Sapp, 105 Ohio St. 3d
104, 120, 822 N.E.2d 1239, 1257 (2004).

Similarly, federal appellate courts have endorsed the use of Clemons reweighing
and/or harmless-error analysis post-Ring. Pensinger v. Chappell, 787 F.3d 1014, 1029 (9th
Cir. 2015); Hanson v. Sherrod, 797 F.3d 810, 839 (10th Cir. 2015); Dixon v. Houk, 737 F.3d
1003, 1013 (6th Cir. 2013); Corcoran v. Levenhagen, 593 F.3d 547, 552 (7th Cir. 2010),
vacated and remanded on other grounds, Wilson v. Corcoran, 562 U.S. 1, 131 S. Ct. 13
(2010); Jennings v. McDonough, 490 F.3d 1230, 1248-51 (11th Cir. 2007); United States v.
Fields, 483 F.3d 313, 345-46 (5th Cir. 2007); Allen v. Lee, 366 F.3d 319, 344 (4th Cir,
2004).

The Oklahoma Court of Criminal Appeals specifically considered a challenge to
appellate reweighing of aggravating and mitigating circumstances in light of Ring in Torres
v. State, 2002 OK CR 35, 58 P.3d 214 (Okla. Crim. App. 2002), cert. denied, 538 U.S. 928,
123 S. Ct. 1580 (2003). The Court concluded:

Oklahoma’s provision that jurors make the factual finding of an aggravating
circumstance beyond a reasonable doubt is all that Ring requires. Once that
finding is made, the substantive elements of the capital crime are satisfied.
Contrary to Torres’s argument, this Court does not engage in fact-finding on a
substantive element of a capital crime when reweighing evidence on appeal.
The jury has already found the substantive facts - the existence of aggravating
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circumstances - and this Court does not substitute its judgment for that of the
jury’s regarding that finding when reweighing.

Id. at §7,58P.3d at 216.

Appellate reweighing or harmless error review after invalidation of an aggravating
circumstance does not implicate factual findings. In Clemons, the High Court determined
that, “[e]ven if under Mississippi law, the weighing of aggravating and mitigating
circumstances were not an appellate, but a jury, function, it was open to the Mississippi
Supreme Court to find that the error which occurred during the sentencing proceeding was
harmless.” Clemons, 494 U.S. at 752, 110 S. Ct. at 1450. Harmless error analysis is
repeatedly and consistently applied in appellate review, and, while in Mississippi the jury
was entrusted with the weighing determination, the appellate court was still entitled to
review the verdict after invalidating a sentencing factor to determine whether it would
remain the same. This holds true even after Ring.

That an appellate court merely utilizes the factual findings of a jury in conducting a
reweighing or harmless error analysis fundamentally distinguishes this case from Ring and
Hurst. This reality does not change merely because Clemons noted that previous precedent
had not required a jury to make the factual findings necessary to impose a death sentence
since nothing about appellate reweighing or harmless error analysis invades the province of
the jury in determining the existence of statutory aggravators that make a defendant death
eligible. A jury’s factual determination of whether a defendant is death eligible is all Ring
requires, and the jury in this case made that decision.

Nor is appellate reweighing or harmless error analysis suddenly taboo merely because
Hurst overruled Hildwin v. Florida, 490 U.S. 638, 109 S. Ct. 2055 (1989), and Spaziano v.
Florida, 468 U.S. 447, 104 S. Ct. 3154 (1984). Hildwin and Spaziano are no longer good

law because “they allow a sentencing judge to find an aggravating circumstance,
independent of a jury’s factfinding, that is necessary for imposition of the death penalty.”
Hurst, 577 U.S. at __, 136 S.Ct. at 624. While Clemons relied on those cases in part,

appellate reweighing and harmless error review comports with Ring, because the jury still
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finds the facts necessary to make a defendant death eligible (in Nevada, the existence of a
statutory aggravator), and the appellate court does not serve to find new facts making a
defendant eligible for the death penalty.

As the Oklahoma Court of Criminal Appeals said in Torres:

this Court does not engage in fact-finding on a substantive element of a capital
crime when reweighing evidence on appeal. The jury has already found the
substantive facts - the existence of aggravating circumstances - and this Court
does not substitute its judgment for that of the jury’s regarding that finding
when reweighing.

Torres, 2002 OK CR 35, 7, 58 P.3d 214, 216.

Because Clemons reweighing comports with the requirements of Ring and because
Petitioner received all the protections required by Ring, the Fifth Petition must be dismissed
and/or denied.

D.  Actually Death Eligible!!

Petitioner cannot show by clear and convincing evidence that, but for a constitutional
error, no reasonable juror would have found him death eligible.” Pellegrini, 117 Nev. at 887,
34 P.3d at 537. First, as noted supra, there has been no constitutional error since Hurst is not
retroactive and appellate reweighing after striking an aggravating circumstance is
permissible. Second, Petitioner has not met the minimum threshold of invalidating every
aggravating circumstance. Sawyer, 505 U.S. at 347, 112 S.Ct. at 2523. Petitioner admits
that the Nevada Supreme Court only invalidated one of the two aggravating circumstances.
Fifth Petition, p. 7. As such, he remains death eligible.
CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, the Fifth Petition is untimely, presumptively prejudicial,
waived and abusive without sufficient justification to ignore Petitioner’s procedural defaults.

As such, the Fifth Petition must be dismissed and/or denied.

11 To the extent that Petitioner may argue actual innocence, any such contention is derivative of his death ineligibility
complaint and must fail because he is actually death eligible. Petitioner’s complaint is that reweighing after invalidating
an aggravating circumstance amounts to inappropriate judicial fact-finding. Fifth Petition, p. 7. Petitioner’s reliance
upon Hurst is a textbook example of a legal insufficiency argument that fails to prove actual innocence. Even if the
Nevada Supreme Court erred in reweighing, the jury’s guilt determination still stands.
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Respectfully submitted,
STEVEN WOLFSON

Clark County District Attorney
Nevada Bar #001565

BY /s/ Jonathan E. VanBoskerck
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JONATHAN E. VANBOSKERCK

Chief Deputy District Attorney

Nevada Bar #006528

Office of the Clark County District Attorney
Regional Justice Center

200 Lewis Avenue

Post Office Box 552212

Las Vegas, Nevada 89155

(702) 671-2750
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CERTIFICATE OF ELECTRONIC FILING

| hereby certify that service of Opposition and Motion to Dismiss Fifth Petition for

Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction), was made this 2" day of November, 2016, by

Electronic Filing to:

/sl E.Davis

JONAH J. HORWITZ,

ro hac vice pendin %

ssistant Federal Public Defender
Email: jonah horwitz@fd.org

PAOLA M. ARMENI, ESQ.
Email: parmeni@gcmaslaw.com

Counsels for Petitioner

Employee for the District Attorney's Office

JEV//ed
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EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

SAMUEL HOWARD, CASE NO. 81C053867
DEPT. XVII
Petitioner,

VS.

TIMOTHY FILSON, Warden, and
ADAM PAUL LAXALT, Attorney General for
the State of Nevada,

Respondents.

ORDER GRANTING WAIVER OF ORIGINAL FEES AND ANNUAL RENEWAL FEE
PURSUANT TO NEVADA SUPREME COURT RULE 42, SUBSECTION 3(e) AND 9

Having reviewed the “Application for Order Waiving Fees Pursuant to Nevada Supreme
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Court Rule 42(3)(e) and Renewal of Application Fees under Rule 42(2)”, and good cause
appearing:

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that pursuant to Supreme Court Rule 42(3)(e) “Limited
exceptions to original and annual fee,” the Court finds applicants Jonah J. Horwitz, Esq.,
Assistant Federal Public Defender and Deborah Anne Czuba, Esq., Assistant Federal Public
Defender, with the Office of the Federal Defender Services of Idaho, are providing pro bono
services in Case No.: 81C053867, a death penalty habeas corpus case.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, good cause appearing, the Court HEREBY waives the
original fee required by SCR 42, subsection 3 and the annual renewal fees required by subsection

9 of the same rule.

Dated this } day of MW , 2016.

MICHAEL P. VILLANI I3
DISTRICT COURT JUDGE
CASE NO.: 81C053867

Submitted by:
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CLERK OF THE COURT

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

SAMUEL HOWARD,
Petitioner,
VS.
TIMOTHY FILSON, Warden, and

ADAM PAUL LAXALT, Attorney
General for the State of Nevada,

Respondents.

Case No. 81C053867
Dept. No. XVII

Date of Hearing: _12/14/2016
Time of Hearing: 9 : 30AM

(Death Penalty Case)
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AMENDED PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS [POST-CONVICTION]

Petitioner Samuel Howard hereby files this Amended Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus
pursuant to NRS 34.720 et seq. Mr. Howard alleges that his death sentence violates the Fifth,
Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution and Article 1, Sections 3
and 8 of the Nevada Constitution because the Nevada Supreme Court improperly reweighed the
aggravating evidence against the mitigating evidence on a post-conviction appeal instead of
remanding his case to the trial court for a new sentencing before a jury, and because the jury did
not find beyond a reasonable doubt that the aggravation outweighed the mitigation.

PROCEDURAL ALLEGATIONS

Mr. Howard is currently in the custody of the State of Nevada at the Ely State Prison in
Ely, Nevada, pursuant to a state court judgment of conviction and sentence of death. The
conviction and sentence were entered on September 16, 1983, in the Eighth Judicial District
Court, Clark County, Nevada, by the Honorable John F. Mendoza, Case No. 81C053867. 2
ROA 349.! No execution date is scheduled.

Respondent Timothy Filson is the Warden of Ely State Prison. As such, he has custody
of Mr. Howard. Respondent Adam Paul Laxalt is the Nevada Attorney General. The
Respondents are sued in their official capacities.

On May 21, 1981, a Clark County Grand Jury indicted Mr. Howard on two counts of
robbery with the use of a deadly weapon, and one count of murder in the first degree with use of
a deadly weapon. 1 ROA 1-6. Mr. Howard was arrested in California and extradited to Las
Vegas, Nevada in November of 1981. He entered his plea of not guilty on November 30, 1982.
1 ROA 17.

! References to the record on appeal (“ROA™) are to the ROA in Nevada Supreme Court case
number 23386. Using the citation above as an example, “2” signifies the volume number and
“349” the page number. Wherever possible, this petition will cite to documents already filed in
state court challenges to Mr. Howard’s conviction and sentence. See NRS 34.730(3)(a) (“If a
petition challenges the validity of a conviction or sentence, it must be . . . [f]iled with the record
of the original proceeding to which it relates . . . .”); EDCR 2.27(e) (“Copies of pleadings or
other documents filed in the pending matter . . . shall not be attached as exhibits or made part of
an appendix.”).

AMENDED PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS - 2
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On May 4, 1983, the jury found Mr. Howard guilty of all charges. 2 ROA 293.
Following the penalty hearing on May 2—4, 1983, the jury returned a sentence of death on the
first-degree murder charge. 2 ROA 294. On September 20, 1983, Mr. Howard was sentenced to
fifteen years with a consecutive fifteen years for two counts of robbery with use of a deadly
weapon. 2 ROA 349.

Mr. Howard testified at his trial.

After he appealed from the judgment of conviction and sentence, the Nevada Supreme
Court affirmed Mr. Howard’s conviction and sentence on December 15, 1986. See Howard v.
State, 102 Nev. 572, 729 P.2d 1341 (1986).> On March 24, 1987, rehearing was denied. The
United States Supreme Court denied Mr. Howard’s petition for writ of certiorari on October 5,
1987. See Howard v. Nevada, 484 U.S. 872, 108 S. Ct. 203 (1987).

On October 28, 1987, Mr. Howard filed a petition for post-conviction relief in Clark

County District Court.> An evidentiary hearing was held on the petition on August 25 and 26,

2 On direct appeal, Mr. Howard raised the following issues:

1.
2.

3.

6.

7.

The lists in this petition of claims raised in previous pleadings do not necessarily track the
enumeration in earlier filings. Rather, the lists are intended to simplify and condense the claims
for the convenience of the Court and of opposing counsel.

? In the petition, Mr. Howard raised the following ineffective-assistance-of-counsel claims:

1

2.
3.
4.

AMENDED PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS - 3

Whether he received effective assistance of counsel at trial;

Whether the trial court erred when it refused to sever Count I from Counts II and 111
of the indictment;

Whether the trial court erred when it refused to grant an evidentiary hearing regarding
the voluntariness of statements Mr. Howard made to law enforcement;

Whether the trial court erred when it failed to give an instruction to the jury that the
testimony of an accomplice ought to be viewed with distrust;

Whether the trial court erred when it failed to give an instruction directing the jury to
consider Dawana Thomas an accomplice as a matter of law;

Whether the trial court erred when it failed to prohibit the prosecution from using
three aggravating circumstances to which objections were raised;

Whether the trial court erred when it failed to instruct the jury regarding sympathy
and mercy.

Failure to present an insanity defense;

Failure to refute the State’s evidence of Mr. Howard’s future dangerousness;
Failure to object to prosecutorial misconduct;

Failure to argue the foregoing claims on direct appeal.

App. 166
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1988. See 3 ROA 491-568. The district court denied the petition on July 5, 1989, and on
November 7, 1990, the Nevada Supreme Court affirmed. Howard v. State, 106 Nev. 713, 800
P.2d 175 (1990). While that proceeding was pending, Mr. Howard filed a federal petition for
habeas relief in the United States District Court for the District of Nevada in case number CV-N-
88-264.% On June 23, 1988, the federal case was dismissed without prejudice. No evidentiary
hearing was held in the case.

On May 2, 1991, Mr. Howard filed another federal habeas corpus petition in the same
court in case number CV-N-91-196.°> Mr. Howard’s petition contained claims that had been
presented in state court as well as claims that had not, and on October 16, 1991, the district court
granted Mr. Howard’s request to stay the case so that he could return to state court for exhaustion|
purposes. See 4 ROA 792-94.

In accordance with that order, Mr. Howard filed, on December 16, 1991, an amended

petition for post-conviction relief in Clark County District Court.® See 4 ROA 786-90. Without|

* In the petition, Mr. Howard raised the following claims:

1. Ineffective assistance of counsel;

2. Failure to sever Count I of the indictment from Counts II and III;

3. Failure to grant an evidentiary hearing on the voluntariness of statements made by
Mr. Howard to law enforcement;

4. Failure to instruct the jury that the testimony of an accomplice ought to be viewed
with distrust;

5. Failure to instruct the jury to consider Dawana Thomas an accomplice as a matter of
law;

6. Failure to prohibit the prosecution from using three aggravating circumstances to
which objections were raised;

7. Failure to instruct the jury on sympathy and mercy;

8. Mr. Howard was legally insane at the time of the offense.

> In the petition, Mr. Howard raised the following claims:
1. Ineffective assistance of counsel at trial;
2. Ineffective assistance of counsel on direct appeal;
3. Cumulative error.

6 In his final amended petition, Mr. Howard raised the following issues:
1. Prosecutorial misconduct;
2. Ineffective assistance of counsel at trial;
3. Speedy trial violation;
4. Cumulative error.

AMENDED PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS - 4
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holding an evidentiary hearing, the court denied the petition on July 7, 1992. See 5 ROA 867-
71. On March 19, 1993, the Nevada Supreme Court dismissed Mr. Howard’s appeal. The U.S.
Supreme Court denied certiorari on October 4, 1993. See Howard v. Nevada, 510 U.S. 840, 114
S. Ct. 122 (1993).

On January 12, 1994, the federal district court docketed a pro se petition for writ of
habeas corpus submitted by Mr. Howard in case number CV-S-93-1209. After various
procedural motions were adjudicated, Mr. Howard filed a second amended petition for writ of
habeas corpus on January 27, 1997. The court entered an order on September 13, 2002, staying
the proceeding so that Mr. Howard could exhaust in state court his federal habeas claims.

On December 20, 2002, Mr. Howard filed his third state petition for post-conviction
relief in Clark County District Court. The court did not hold an evidentiary hearing and
dismissed the petition on procedural grounds on October 23, 2003. On December 1, 2004, the
Nevada Supreme Court affirmed the lower court’s dismissal. See Howard v. State, No. 42593,
120 Nev. 1249, 131 P.3d 609 (2004) (per curiam) (table) (unpublished disposition). The federal
district court lifted its stay on February 23, 2005, directing the Clerk to file Mr. Howard’s Third
Amended Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus.

On October 25, 2007, Mr. Howard filed in Clark County District Court his fourth state

petition for post-conviction relief.” In an order dated November 5, 2010, the state trial court

7 In his final amended petition, Mr. Howard raised the following issues:
1. The use of the felony-murder aggravator constituted double counting;
2. The use of the prior-felony aggravator was unlawful because Mr. Howard was never

convicted of the earlier offense;

Trial counsel was ineffective;

The premeditation instruction was erroneous;

The first-degree murder statute was vague;

Unanimity from the jury was required on whether mitigation existed;

Prosecutorial misconduct;

Direct-appeal counsel was ineffective;

Appellate review was inadequate;

10 The Nevada death penalty is arbitrary and capricious;

11. Cumulative error.

N
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denied the petition without holding an evidentiary hearing. The Nevada Supreme Court affirmed
on July 30, 2014, though in so doing it declared void one of Mr. Howard’s two aggravating
circumstances. See Howard v. State, No. 57469, 2014 WL 3784121 (Nev. July 30, 2014) (per
curiam) (unpublished disposition). On April 27, 2015, the U.S. Supreme Court declined to take
certiorari review. See Howard v. Nevada, 135 S. Ct. 1898 (2015).

In Mr. Howard’s federal habeas case, the district court denied relief on December 28,
2009. On August 10, 2015, the Ninth Circuit remanded the case to the district court for further
proceedings. Litigation in district court is ongoing and no evidentiary hearing has yet been
held.® Aside from this petition, the federal district court proceeding is the only action now
pending that targets Mr. Howard’s conviction and sentence.

The grounds for relief raised herein have not been previously presented to this or any
other court. Mr. Howard did not present the claims earlier because they were not available until
recently, as the claims are based on Hurst v. Florida, 136 S. Ct. 616 (2016), which the U.S.
Supreme Court handed down on January 12, 2016. By that date, Mr. Howard’s prior state-court
challenges to his conviction and sentence had already been fully disposed of. Consequently, the
instant petition is the first opportunity that Mr. Howard has had to raise the claim.

This petition is being filed more than one year after the Nevada Supreme Court affirmed
Mr. Howard’s conviction and sentence on direct appeal. The delay was caused by the same
factor noted above, i.e., the claims raised here rely on Hurst, and the Hurst opinion was not
issued until January 12, 2016, more than twenty-nine years after the Nevada Supreme Court
issued its opinion in Mr. Howard’s direct appeal.

At trial, Mr. Howard was represented by Marcus Cooper and George Franzen. In his

direct appeal, Mr. Howard was primarily represented by Lizzie R. Hatcher. Ms. Hatcher and

8 Mr. Howard’s operative federal habeas petition raises twenty-five claims. See Ex. 1. Because
of the volume of claims, Mr. Howard will not list each of them here and will instead refer to the
recitation in the federal petition, which is attached as an exhibit, and incorporate that recitation
by reference. See id. at 4-51; N.R.C.P. 10(c) (“Statements in a pleading may be adopted by
reference in a different part of the same pleading or in another pleading or in any motion. A
copy of any written instrument which is an exhibit to a pleading is a part thereof for all
purposes.”); NRS 34.780(1) (“The Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure, to the extent that they are
not inconsistent with [post-conviction rules], apply to [post-conviction] proceedings . . . .”).

AMENDED PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS - 6
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John J. Graves both signed a motion to recall the remittitur that was filed with the Nevada
Supreme Court in the direct appeal. A motion to extend the stay of the issuance of the remittitur
was filed by Mr. Graves and Carmine J. Colucci. Messrs. Graves and Colucci submitted a
petition for writ of certiorari to the U.S. Supreme Court in an effort to have that Court review the
Nevada Supreme Court’s decision in the direct appeal.

Mr. Howard has no sentences to serve after he completes the sentence imposed by the
judgment under attack.

CLAIM ONE:

Mr. Howard’s death sentence is invalid under the state and federal constitutional
provisions guaranteeing an accused the right to a trial by jury and to have every fact exposing
him to a harsher sentence proved by the State beyond a reasonable doubt. See U.S. Const.
amends. V, VI & XIV; Nevada Const. art. I, secs. 3 & 8. In violation of these constitutional
provisions, the Nevada Supreme Court in its July 30, 2014 decision struck one of Mr. Howard’s
two aggravating circumstances, reweighed the aggravating evidence against the mitigating
evidence, and re-imposed a death sentence. Pursuant to U.S. Supreme Court precedent
interpreting the Sixth Amendment, as incorporated against the States through the Fourteenth
Amendment, only a jury—and not a judge or judges—can find the facts permitting the
imposition of a death sentence, and it must do so under a reasonable-doubt standard. See Hurst,
136 S. Ct. at 621-24. Such fact-finding includes the process of measuring mitigation against
aggravation and determining whether a death sentence is warranted. Nevada’s state
constitutional protections for a jury-trial right and for due process should be interpreted
consistently with this federal caselaw. See Nevada Const. art. I, secs. 3 & 8. The Nevada
Supreme Court therefore usurped the jury’s constitutional role by reweighing the evidence and
affirming Mr. Howard’s death sentence without applying a reasonable-doubt standard. Now that
one of two aggravators has been nullified by Nevada’s highest court, Mr. Howard’s death
sentence is unlawful and he is entitled to a new penalty-phase proceeding before a jury of his

peers.

AMENDED PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS -7
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The Hurst error identified above is structural, because stripping a capital jury of its
constitutional fact-finding role at the penalty phase represents a defect affecting the framework
within which the trial proceeds, and thus infects the entire trial process. Harmless error analysis
is as a result inappropriate. If harmless error analysis is applied, the violation is prejudicial. Had
the Nevada Supreme Court not engaged in its unlawful reweighing of the mitigation against the
aggravation, the court would instead have remanded for resentencing. Consequently, in the
absence of the error, the result would have been different, and prejudice is apparent.

SUPPORTING FACTS:

The jury that sentenced Mr. Howard to death based its determination on two aggravating
circumstances: (1) that Mr. Howard had previously been convicted of a violent felony; and (2)
that he committed the murder while robbing the victim. See 2 ROA 294. In 2014, on a post-
conviction appeal, the Nevada Supreme Court nullified the second aggravating circumstance.
See Howard, 2014 WL 3784121, at *6. However, the court upheld the remaining aggravator,
which alleged a prior violent felony. See id. at *5. Having struck one aggravator and affirmed
the other, the court reweighed the aggravating evidence against the mitigating evidence and
determined that a death sentence was still appropriate, without employing a reasonable-doubt
standard. See id. at *6. Accordingly, the Nevada Supreme Court affirmed the denial of post-
conviction relief without remanding the case for a new penalty hearing. See id.

CLAIM TWO:

Mr. Howard’s death sentence is invalid under the state and federal constitutional
provisions guaranteeing an accused the right to have every fact exposing him to a harsher
sentence proved to a jury beyond a reasonable doubt. See U.S. Const. amends. V, VI & XIV;
Nevada Const. art. I, secs. 3 & 8. Such facts include those found by a jury when it weighs the
aggravation against the mitigation and concludes that a death sentence is appropriate. Pursuant
to Hurst, 136 S. Ct. at 621-24, the jury must find beyond a reasonable doubt that the aggravation
outweighs the mitigation. Nevada’s state constitutional protections for a jury-trial right and for

due process should be interpreted consistently with this federal caselaw. See Nevada Const. art.

AMENDED PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS - 8
App. 171




O 0 N o kR WD =

NN NN N NN NN R e e e e e e e e
O 1 N R WD =R DO 0\ WD —= o

I, secs. 3 & 8. At Mr. Howard’s trial, the jury did not determine beyond a reasonable doubt that
the aggravation outweighed the mitigation, rendering the death sentence unconstitutional.

The Hurst error identified above is structural, because depriving a defendant of a
reasonable-doubt standard affects the framework within which the trial proceeds, and thus infects
the entire trial process. Harmless error analysis is as a result inappropriate. If harmless error
analysis is applied, the violation is prejudicial. Had the jury been given the proper reasonable-
doubt instruction, it would not have voted for death in light of the mitigating evidence presented
at sentencing and the relative weakness of the aggravating evidence. Consequently, in the
absence of the error, the result would have been different, and prejudice is apparent.

SUPPORTING FACTS:

The jury that sentenced Mr. Howard to death was instructed that it could “impose a
sentence of death only if it [found] . . . that there [were] no mitigating circumstances sufficient to
outweigh the aggravating circumstance or circumstances found.” 2 ROA 281; accord NRS
175.554(3). For that weighing process, the jury was not given any standard of proof to apply.
Therefore, when the jury selected a death sentence, it did not find that the State had proved
beyond a reasonable doubt that the aggravation outweighed the mitigation.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Petitioner Samuel Howard prays that the court issue a writ of habeas

corpus and vacate his death sentence.

DATED this 1st day of December 2016.

Respectfully submitted,

GENTILE CRISTALLI
MILLER ARMENI SAVARESE

/s/ Paola M. Armeni
PAOLA M. ARMENI, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 8357
410 South Rampart Boulevard, Suite 420
Las Vegas, Nevada 89145
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FEDERAL DEFENDER
SERVICES OF IDAHO

/s/ Deborah A. Czuba
DEBORAH A. CZUBA, ESQ. (admitted pro hac vice)
Idaho Bar No. 9648
720 West Idaho Street, Suite 900
Boise, Idaho 83702

/s/ Jonah J. Horwitz
JONAH J. HORWITZ, ESQ. (admitted pro hac vice)
Wisconsin Bar No. 1090065
720 West Idaho Street, Suite 900
Boise, Idaho 83702
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VERIFICATION

I, Jonah J. Horwitz, declare as follows:

1. Tam an Assistant Federal Public Defender in the Capital Habeas Unit for the Federal
Defender Services of Idaho. I represent Samuel Howard in his federal habeas corpus
proceeding, Howard v. Baker, D. Nev., No. 2:93-cv-1209. On October 24, 2016, this
Court filed an order admitting me to practice pro hac vice in Nevada in the instant
case.

2. Petitioner is confined and restrained of his liberty at Ely State Prison in Ely, Nevada. 1
make this verification on Mr. Howard’s behalf because these matters are more within
my knowledge than his, and because he is incarcerated in a state different from where
my office is located. I have read this Amended Petition and know the contents to be
true except as to those matters stated on information and belief and as to such matters 1
believe them to be true.

3. T verify that Mr. Howard personally authorized me to commence this action.

/s/ Jonah J. Horwitz
Jonah J. Horwitz
Assistant Federal Public Defender
Federal Defender Services of Idaho

AMENDED PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS - 11
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
I hereby certify that service of this Amended Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus was
made this 1st day of December 2016, by Electronic Filing to:
Jonathan E. VanBoskerck
Chief Deputy District Attorney

Office of the Clark County District Attorney
Jonathan VanBoskerck@clarkcountvda.com

/s/ Joy Fish

Joy Fish

Paralegal

Federal Defender Services of Idaho

AMENDED PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS - 12
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ADAM PAUL LAXALT, Attorney
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STIPULATION AND ORDER

On December 1, 2016, Petitioner Samuel Howard filed an amended petition for post-
conviction relief. In light of that submission, the parties hereby stipulate to the following:
e The oral argument currently scheduled for December 14, 2016, should be vacated;
o Respondents shall file a motion to strike the amended petition for post-conviction relief
\ ‘by January 3, 2017;
e Petitioner shall file an opposition to the motion to strike by February 3, 2017;
e Respondents shall file a reply in support of the motion to strike by February 17, 2017.
e Oral argument on the motion to strike will be held on Marchi# 2017, at 9:30 AM, or at
another time that week that is convenient for the Court.

In the event the Court grants the motion to strike, it will adjudicate the original petition
for post-conviction relief, filed October 5, 2016, after Petitioner files a response to the State’s
motion to dismiss the original petition, filed November 2, 2016, and after oral argument on the
original petition. If the Court denies the motion to strike, it will adjudicate the amended petition
for post-conviction relief, after Respondents file a motion to dismiss the amended petition, after
Petitioner files an opposition to the motion to dismiss, and after oral argument on the amended
petition. Deadlines for further pleadings will be set after the Court rules on Respondents’ motion
to strike.

DATED this 5th day of December 2016.

GENTILE CRISTALLI OFFICE OF THE CLARK COUNTY

MI%LER’?YRM NI SAVARESE DISTRICT ATTORNEY

PAO‘LAM‘ARMENI ESQ. 0 ATHV AN E. VANBOSKERCK, ESQ

Nevada Bar No. 8357 Nevada Bar #006528
410 South Rampart Blvd., Ste. 420 601 N. Pecos Road
Las Vegas, Nevada 89145 Las Vegas, NV 89101

Attorney for Respondents

STIPULATION AND ORDER -2

APP 177




Ay

O 0 1 N B W N e

o S T - N U N O N = T~ T -*- T B~ N U “ VO R N T

FEDERAL DEFENDER

§ER'V_CES OF IDAHO &7
;’
(e

i

DEBC H‘K’CZUBX EsQ
(admitted pro hac vice)
Idaho Bar No. 9648

'West Idaho Street, Ste. 900

f Bmse Idahoﬁi /i
\,,

JONAH J. HORWITZ, ESQ.
(admitted pro hac vice)
Wisconsin Bar No. 1090065
720 West Idaho Street, Ste. 900
Boise, Idaho 83702

Attorneys for Petitioner
ORDER

Good cause appearing, it is hereby ordered that the oral argument currently scheduled for
December 14, 2016, is vacated. Respondents shall file a motion to strike the amended petition
for post-conviction relief by January 3, 2017. Petitioner shall file an opposition to the motion to
strike by February 3, 2017. Respondents shall file a reply in support of the motion to strike by

February 17, 2017. Oral argument on the motion to strike is scheduled for hearing on March 6,

2017, at 9:30 AM.

Dated this 8 day of ~2016. y /

MICHAEL P. VILLANI
DISTRICT COURT JUDGE
CASE NO.: 81C053867 14

e A S

Submltted;By

LA

PAOLA M. ARMENI, ESQ.

Nevada Bar No. 8357

410 South Rampart Boulevard, Suite 420
Las Vegas, Nevada 89145

/
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DEB@R}\H A. CZUBA, ESQ.
(admitted pro hac vice)
Idaho Bar No. 9648

720 West.Idaho Street, Suite 900
oise, Idaho 83702

&{L

JON;—\\IQ J HORWITZ, ESQ.
(admitted pro hac vice)
Wisconsin Bar No. 1090065

720 West Idaho Street, Suite 900
Boise, Idaho 83702

Attorneys for Petitioner
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MSTR . B Slnininn
STEVEN WOLFSON

Clark County District Attorney CLERK OF THE COURT
Nevada Bar #001565

JONATHAN E. VANBOSKERCK

Chief Deputy District Attorney

Nevada Bar #006528

200 Lewis Avenue

Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212

(702) 671-2500

Attorney for Plaintiff

DISTRICT COURT | DEPARTMENT XVI

G
NOTICE OF HEAM

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA DATE S 1212 TIME =

APPROVED BY_3®

SAMUEL HOWARD, )
Petitioner, % CASENO: 81C053867
-V§- ) DEPT NO: XVII
THE STATE OF NEVADA, %
Respondent, % |
- )

MOTION TO STRIKE AMENDED FIFTH PETITION
FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS (POST-CONVICTION)
DATE OF HEARING: March 17, 2017
TIME OF HEARING: 9:30 a.m.

COMES NOW, the State of Nevada, by STEVEN WOLFSON, District Attorney,
through JONATHAN E. VANBOSKERCK, Chief Deputy District Attorney, and hetreby
submits this Motion to Strike Amendcd Fifth Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-
Conviction).

This motion is made and based upon all the papers and pleadings on file herein, the
attached points and authorities in support hereof, and oral argument at the time of hearing, 1f
deemed necessary by this Honorable Coutt.
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[ hearing in Dept. XVII of the above-captioned court on the 17" day of March, 2017, at the

NOTICE OF MOTION
TO: SAMUEL HOWARD, Defendant / Petitioner, and
TO: PAOLA M. ARMENI, JONAH J. HORWITZ, and DEBORAH A, CZUBA, Attorney
of Record
YOU, AND EACH OF YOU, WILL PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the undersigned
counsel will bring the above and foregoing state’s MOTION TO STRIKE AMENDED
FIFTH PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS (POST-CONVICTION) on for

hour of 9:30 a.m., or as soon thereafter as counsel may be heard.

DATED this 12" day of December, 2016.

STEVEN B, WOLFSON
DISTRICT ATTORNEY

By.: /s/ Jonathan E. VanBoskerck
TJONATHAN E. VANBOSKERCK
Chief Deputy District Attorney
Nevada Bar #006528
Office of the Clark County District Attorney

POINTS AND AUTHORITIES
STATEMENT OF FACTS

This Court summarized the facts of this case in the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of

Law and Order denying Petitioner’s fourth demand for habeas relief:

On March 26, 1980, around noon, a Sears’ security officer, Keith
Kinsey, observed Howard take a sander from a shelf, remove the packing and
then claim a fraudulent refund slip from a cashier. Kinsey approached Howard
and asked him to accompany Kinsey to a security office. Kinsey enlisted the
aid of two other store employees. Howard was cooperative, alert and indicated
there must be some mistake. In the security office, Kinsey observed Howard
had a gun under his jacket and atlempted to handecuff Howard for safety
reasons. A struggle broke out and Howard drew a 357 revolver and pointed it
at the three men. Howard had the men lay face down on the floor and took
Kinsey’s security badge, ID and a portable radio (walkie-talkie). Howard
threatened to kill the three men if they followed him and he fled to his car in
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‘Howard made some phone calls. Later that evening Howard left for a couple

the parking lot. A yellow gold jewelry ID bracelet was found at the scene and
impounded. It was later identified as Howard’s. The Sears in question was
located at the corner of Desert Inn Road and Maryland Parkway at the
Boulevard Mall in Las Vegas, Nevada.

Dawana Thomas, Howard’s girlfriend, was waiting for him in the car.
Howard had told her to wait for him and she was unaware of his intentions to
obtain money through a false refund transaction. Fleeing from the robbery,
Howard hopped into the car, a 1980 black Oldsmobile Cutlass with New York
plates 614 ZHQ and sped away from the mail. While escaping, Howard rear-
ended a white corvette driven by Stephen Houchin. Houchin followed Howard
when Howard left the scene of the accident. Howard pointed the .357 revolver
out the window of the Olds and at Houchin's face, telling Houchin to mind his
own business.

Howard drove to the Castaways Motel on Las Vegas Boulevard South
and parked the car for a few hours. Thomas and Howard walked about and

of hours. When he returned he told Thomas that he had met up with a pimp,
but the pimps’ girls were with him so he couldn’t rob him. Howard indicated
he had arranged to meet with the “pimp” the next moring and would rob him
then.

Howard and Thomas drove to the Western Six motel located on the
Boulder Highway near the intersection of Desert Inn Road. The couple had
stayed at this motel before and Howard instructed Thomas to register under an
assumed name, Barbara Jackson. The motel registration card under that name
was admitted into evidence and a documents’ examiner compared handwriting
on the card with Thomas® and indicated they matched.

Around 6:00 am. on March 27, 1980, Thomas and Howard left the
motel and went to breakfast. After breakfast, Thomas dropped Howard off in
the alley behind Dr. George Monahan’s office. This was at approximately
7:00 a.m. Thomas went back to the motel room. Approximately an hour later,
Howard returned to the motel. Howard had a CB radio with him that had loose
wires and a gold watch she had never seen before. Howard told Thompson
that he was tired of Las Vegas and to pack up their things as they were leaving
for California.

Dr, Monahan was a dentist with a practice located on Desert Inn Road
within walking distance of the Boulevard Mall. He was attempting to sell a
uniquely painted van and would park the van in the parking lot of the mall, at
the Desert Inn and Maryland intersection and near the Sears store, then walk to
his office. The van had a sign in it listing Dr. Monahan’s home and business
phone numbers and the business address.

About 4:00 p.m. on March 26, 1980, the afternoon of the Sears robbery,
Dr. Monahan’s wife, Mary Lou Monahan, received a phone call at her home
inquiring about the van. The caller was a male who identified himself as
“Keith” and stated he was a security guard at Caesar’s Palace. Ile indicated he
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- Monahan was not there and a patient was waiting for him, Dr. Monahan’s

was interested in purchasing the van and wanted to know if someone could
meet him at Caesar’s during his break time at 8:00 p.m. Mrs. Monahan
indicated the caller would have to talk to her husband who was expected home
shortly. A seccond call was made around 4:30 p.m. and Dr. Monahan made
arrangements to meet “Keith™ at Caesar’s later that night.

The Monahans and two relatives, Barbara Zemen and Mary Catherine
Monahan, met “Keith” that evening at the appointed time and place. Howard
was identified as the man who called himself “Keith”. Howard was catrying a
walkie-talkie radio at the time. Howard talked to Dr. Monahan for about ten
minutes about purchasing the van and looked mside the van but did not touch
the door handle while doing so. Howard arranged to meet Dr. Monahan the
next morning to take a test drive. The Monahan’s left Caesar’s and parked the
van at Dr, Monahan’s office before returning home in another vehicle.

The nexi day, March 27, 1980, Dr. Monahan left his home at about 6:50
a.m. He took with him his wallet, a gold Seiko watch, daily receipts and the
van title, When Mrs. Monahan arrived at the office at about 8:00 a.m. Dr.

truck was 1n the parking lot to the rear of the office. Dr. Monahan had not
entered the office. A black man wearing a radio or walkie-talkie on his belt
came into the office at about 7:00 a.m. that morning looking for Dr. Monahan
and stating that he had an appointment with the doctor.

Mrs, Monahan called Caesar’s Palace and learned no “Keith™ fitling the
description she gave worked security. After obtaining this information, Mrs,
Monahan called the police to report her hushband as a missing person. This
occurred at about 9:00 a.m.

Charles Marine owned the Dew Drop Inn located near the corner of
Desert Inn and Boulder Highway, just a few blocks from Dr. Monahan’s office
and almost across the road from the Western Six motel. Early on the morning
of March 27, 1980, as he approached his business, he observed the Monahan
van backing into the rear of the bar. When he arrived at the Inn, he looked in
the driver’s side and saw no one. He asked patrons if they knew anything
about the van and no one spoke up. Marino remained at the business until the
early afternoon. The van was still there and had not been moved. Later that
day, at around 7:00 p.m. he received a call to return to the bar as a dead body
had been found in the van.

In response fo television coverage, the police learned the Monahan van
was behind the Dew Drop Inn around 6:45 p.m. Dr. Monahan’s body was
found in the van under an overturned table and some coverings. He had been
shot once in the head. The bullet went through Dr. Monahan’s head and a
projectile was recovered on the floor of the van. The projectile was comparcd
to Howard’s .357 revolver. Because the bullet was so badly damaged; forensic
analysis could not establish an exact match. It was determined that the bullet
could have come from certain makes and models of revolvers, Howard’s
included. The van’s CB radio and a tape deck had been removed. Dr.
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Monahan’s watch and wallet were missing. A fingerprint recovered from one
of the van’s doors matched Howard’s.

Homicide detectives were aware of the Sears robbery that had occurred
on March 26®. The description of the Sears suspect matched that given by
Mrs. Monahan of the man calling himself Keith at Caesar’s Palace. Based
upon that, the use of the name Keith, the walkie-talkie in possession of the
suspect, the close proximity of the dental office to the Sears and the fact that
the van had been parked in the Sears’ parking lot, the police issued a bulletin to
state and out-of-state law enforcement agencies describing the suspect and the
car used in the Sears’ robbery. |

On March 27, 1980, while the police were searching for Dr. Monahan,
Howard and Thompson drove to California. They left the motel between 8:00
a.m. and 9:00 a.m. and on the way they stopped for gas. At that time Howard
had a brown or black wallet that had credit cards and photos in it. Howard
went to the gas station rest room and when he returned he no longer had the
wallet.

On March 28, 1980, Howard and Thompson went to a Sears in San
Bernadino, California. Once again Howard left Thompson in the car while he
entered the Sears, picked up merchandize and tried to obtain a refund on it.
This time he used the stolen Kinsey Sears security badge in the atiempt. The
Sears personal were suspicious and left Howard at the register while they
called Las Vegas. When they returned Howard had left. Howard had returned
to the car and Thompson and Howard ducked down when the people from
Sears stepped outside to view the parking lot.

On or about April 1, 1980, at around noon, Howard went to the
Stonewood Shopping Center in Downey, California. He entered a jewelry
store and talked to a security agent, Manny Velasquez. Another agent in the
store, Robert Slater, who also worked as a police officer in Downey, saw
Howard and noticed the grip of a gun under Howard’s jacket. Slater talked to
Velasquez and decided to call the Downey Police. Howard left the jewelry
store went to the west end of the mall near a Thrifty drugstore. Downey Police
officers observed Howard walking up and down the aisles of the drugstore,
picking items up and replacing them on shelves. Howard was stopped on
suspicion of carrying a concealed weapon. No gun was found on him nor was
he carrying the walkie-talkie. A search of the aisles he had been in revealed a
357 magnum revolver and the walkie-talkie and Sears’ security badge stolen
from Kinsey.

Howard was arrested for carrying a conccaled weapon and then
identified and booked for a San Bernadino robbery. Howard was given his
Miranda rights by Downey Police officers. Disputed evidence was presented
regarding his response and whether he invoked his right to silence. Based on
information in the all-points bulletin, the California authorities contacted the
Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department about Howard. On April 2, 1980,
LVMPD Detective Alfred Leavitt went to California and, after reading

HAP DﬁVE Docs\Howard, Samuel, 81C033867- Motion to Strike Amended Fitth PWH

App. 184



o e - v n s W N —

[ T N o T O o L T L T L O L e T T S Sy o T W
Lo« T R L L L ¥ R L = Vo T v - T I o L T - S TS N S e )

Howard his Miranda rights, which Howard indicated he understood,
interviewed Howard regarding the Sears robbery and Dr. Monahan’s murder,
Howard did not invoke his right to remain silent or to counsel at this time.

Howard told Detective Leavitt he recalled being at the Sears department
store but no details about what happened and that he did not remember
anything about March 27, 1980. He stated he could have killed Dr. Monahan
but he didn’t know.

Ed Schwartz was working as a car salesman in New York on October 35,
1979. When he arrived at work at approximately 9:00 a.m. Howard entered
the agency and was looking at an Oldsmobile car. Howard showed Schwartz a
New York driver’s license and checkbook and told Schwartz that he worked
for a security firm in New York. Howard asked if they could take a
demonstration ride and Schwartz drove the car for a few blocks while Howard
was the passenger. Howard asked if he could drive the car and the men
switched seats. After driving for a short time, Howard pulled over and pointed
an automatic pistol at Schwartz. Schwartz was told to get down on the floor of
the car and remove his shoes and pants. Schwartz complied and Howard took
Schwartz’ watch, ring and wallet. Schwartz got out of the car when ordered to
do so and Howard drove off. The car was later found abandoned.!

Howard called witnesses who testified they saw the Monahan van being
driven by a black man who did not match Howard’s description, in particular
the man had a large afro and Howard had short hair, John McBride state that
he saw the van around 8:30 to 8:45 a.m. in his apartment complex which is
located about five miles from Desert Inn and Boulder Highway. Lora Mallek
was employed at a Mobile gas station at the comer of DI and Boulder Highway
and she stated serviced the van when it pulled into the station between 3:00
p.m. and 4:00 p.m. Mallek testified that a black man with a large atro was
driving, a black woman who did not match Thomas’ description was in the
passenger seat and a white man was sitting in the back.

Howard testified over the objection of counsel. He indicated he did not
recall much about March 26, 1980. He remembered being in Las Vegas in
general on and off and that at one point Dwana Thomas’ brother, who was
about Howard’s height, age and weight, and had a large afro, visited them.
Howard said he remembers incidents, not dates and Kinsey could have been
telling the truth about the Sears store. Howard indicated he wasn’t sure
because when the Sears people gathered around him, it reminded him of
Vietnam and he kind of had a flashback. Howard said he thinks he left Las
Vegas immediately after the Sears incident. Howard also stated that he did not
meet Dr. Monahan, rob or kill him as he couldn’t be that callous.

On cross-examination, Howard admitted he left New York in the middle
of his robbery trial and was asked about statements he made to Detective
Leavitt. Howard also acknowledged he has used a number of aliases including

I This evidence was admitted to show identity and motive for the Monahan murder.
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Harold Stanback. Howard indicated he was taking the blame for Dawana and
her brother Lonnie.

Dawana Thomas was called in rebuttal and indicated her brother Lonnie
had not been in Las Vegas in March of 1980.

In the penalty phase, the Statc presented evidence on the details of
Howard’s 1979 New York conviction for robbery. A college nurse who knew
Howard, Dorothy Weisband, testified that Howard robbed her at gunpoint
taking her wallet and car. He forced her into a closet and demanded she
removed her clothes. She refused and he left. After the robbery, Howard
called Weisband trying to get more cash from her in return for her car and
threatened her.,

Howard testified regarding his military, family and mental health
histories. Howard discussed his military service and stated he had suffered a
concussion and received a purple heart.>? Howard also stated he was on
veteran’s disability in New York.” He said he was in various mental health
facilities in California including being housed in the same facility as Charlie
Manson. He testified he had been diagnosed as a schizophrenic, but that some
of the doctors thought he was malingering. When asked about his childhood,
Howard became upset. He indicated he didn’t want to talk about the death of
his mother and sister. Howard indicated he was not mentally ill and knew
what he was doing at all times.

(Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order, filed November 6, 2010, p. 12-19

(footnotes in original)).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This Court also set forth the vast majority of the procedural history of this case in the
2010 Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order denying Petitioner’s fourth habeas

petition;

On May 20, 1981 defendant Samuel Howard was indicted on one count
of robbery with use of a deadly weapon involving a Sears security officer
named Keith Kinsey on March 26, 1980; one count of robbery with use of a
deadly weapon involving Dr, George Monahan and one count of murder with
use of a deadly weapon involving Dr. Monahan, both committed on March 27,
1980, With respect to the murder count, the State alleged two theories: willful,

2 The military records attached to the current Fourth Petition do not reflect any such injury or award.
* Howard’s military records do not support this and there is nothing in the record substantiating any admission to a

veteran's hospital. The record reflects Howard was never actually admitted to a hospital in New York because it
required identification and he could not identify himself due to existing warrants for his arrest.
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premeditated and deliberate murder or murder in the commission of a robbery.

Howard was atrested in California whete he was serving time for a
robbery committed on or about April 1, 1980. He was extradited in November
of 1982 and an initial appearance was set for November 23, 1982. At that time
the matter was continued for appointment of counsel, the Clark County Public
Defender’s Office.,

On November 30, 1982, Terry Jackson of the Public Defender’s Office
represented to the district court that Howard qualified for the Public
Defender’s services; however, Mr, Jackson indicated he had a personal conflict
as he was a friend of the victim.  The district judge determined that the
relationship did not create a conflict for the Public Defender’s Office, barred
Mr. Jackson from involvement with the case and appointed another deputy
public defender to Howard’s case.

Howard’s counsel requested a one week continuance to consult with
Howard about the case. Howard objected, insisted on being arraigned and
demanded a speedy trial. After discussion, the district court accepted a plea of
not guilty and sct a trial date of January 10, 1983,

Howard filed a motion in late in December asking for his counsel to be
removed and substitutc counscl appointed. Counsel filed a response
addressing issues raised in the motion. After a hearing, the district court
determined there were no grounds for removing the Clark County Public
Defender’s Office. |

A motion for a psychiatric expert was filed. At a hearing, the district
court inquired if this was for competency and Howard’s counsel indicated it
was not, but it was to help evaluate Howard’s mental status at the time of the
events. The district court granted the motion and appointed Dr. O’Gorman to
assist the defense.

At a status check on January 4, 1983, defense counsel indicated the
defense could not be ready for the January 10" trial date due to the need 1o
conduct additional investigation and discovery. In addition, counsel noted
Howard was refusing to cooperate with counsel. Howard objected to any
continuance with knowledge that his attorneys’ could not complete the
investigations by that date. Given Howard’s objections, the district court
stated the trial would go forward as scheduled.

On the day of trial, defense counsel moved to withdraw stating that Mr.
Jackson’s conflict created mistrust in Howard and he therefore refused to
cooperate. This motion was denied. Defense counsel then moved for a
continuance as they did not feel comfortable proceeding to trial in this case,
given the issues involved, with only six weeks to prepare. After extensive
argument and a recess so that counsel could discuss the 1ssue with Howard, the
district court granted the continuance over Howard’s objections.

The guilt phase of the trial began on April 11, 1983 and concluded on
April 22, 1983. The jury returned a verdict of guilty on all three counts. The
penalty phase was sct to begin on May 2, 1983, In the interim, one of the
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jurors tried to contact the trial judge about a scheduling problem. Because the
district judge was on vacation, someone referred the juror to the District
Attorney’s Office. That Office referred the juror to the jury commissioner.
Howard moved for a mistrial or elimination of the death penalty as a
sentencing option based upon this contact. After conducting an evidentiary
hearing, the district court denied Howard’s motions.

Defense counsel made an oral motion to withdraw indicating they had
irreconcilable differences with Howard over the conduct of the penalty phase.
Counsel indicated they had documents and witnesses in mitigation, but that
Howard had instructed them not to present any mitigation evidence. Howard
also instructed them not to argue mitigation and they would not follow that
directive, but would argue mitigation. Counsel also indicated that Howard told
them he wished to testify, but would not tell them the substance of his
testimony. Finally counsel indicated they had attempted to get military and
mental health records but were unsuccessful because the agencies possessing
the records would not send copes without a release signed by Howard and
Howard refused to sign the releases. The disirict court canvassed Howard if
this was correct and Howard confirmed it was true and that he did not want
any mitigation presented. The district court found Howard understood the
consequences of his decision and denied the motion to withdraw concluding
defense counsel’s disagreement with Howard’s decision was not a valid basis
to withdraw.

The penalty phase began on May 2, 1983 and concluded on May 4,
1983. The State originally alleged threc aggravating circumstances: 1) the
murder was committed by a person who had previously been convicted of a
felony involving the use of violence - namely robbery with use of a deadly
weapon in California, 2) prior violent felongy - a 1978 New York conviction in
absentia for robbery with use of a deadly weapon; and 3) the murder occurred
in the commission of a robbery. Howard moved to strike the California
conviction because the conviction occurred after the Monahan murder and the
New York conviction because it was not supported by a judgment of
conviction. The district court struck the California conviction but denied the
motion as to the New York conviction, noting that the records reflected a jury
had convicted Howard and the lack of a formal judgment was the result of
Howard’s absconding in the middle of trial.

The State presented evidence of the aggravating circumstances and
Howard took the stand and related information on his background. During a
break in the testimony, Howard suddenly stated he didn’t understand what
mitigation meant and that he would leave it up to his attorneys to decide what
to do. The district court asked Howard if he was now instructing his attorneys
to present mitigation and he refused to answer the question. Howard did
indicate that he wanted his attorney’s to argue mitigation and defensc counsel
asked for time to prepare which was granted. The jury found both aggravating
circumstances existed and that no mitigating circumstances outweighed the
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aggravating circumstances. The jury returned a sentence of death.

Howard appealed to the Nevada Supreme Court. Elizabeth Hatcher
represented Howard on Direct Appeal. Howard raised the following issues on
direct appeal: 1) ineffective assistance of counsel based on actual conflict
arising out of Jackson’s relationship with Dr. Monahan; 2) denial of a motion
to sever the Sears’ count from the Monahan counts; 3) denial of an evidentiary
hearing on a motion to suppress Howard’s statements and evidence derived
therefrom; 4) refusal to instruct the jury that accomplice testimony should be
viewed with mistrust; 5) refusal to instruct the jury that Dawana Thomas was
an accomplice as a matter of law; 6) denial of a motion to strike the felony
robbery and New York prior violent felony aggravators; and 7) the giving of a
anti-sympathy instruction and refusal to instruct the jury that sympathy and
mercy were appropriate considerations,

The Nevada Supreme Court affirmed Howard’s conviction and
sentence. Howard v, State, 102 Nev. 572, 729 P.2d 1341 (1986) (hereinalier
“Howard I'"). The Supreme Court held that the relationship of two members of
the Public Defender’s Office with Monahan did not objectively justify
Howard’s distrust and thete was no evidence that those aftorneys had any
involvement in his case. Therefore no actual conflict existed and the claim of
ineffective assistance of counsel on this basis had no merit. The Court further
concluded the district court did not abuse its discretion by refusing to sever the
counts and by not granting an evidentiary hearing on the suppression motion.
The Court noted that the record reflected proper Miranda warnings were given
and the statements were admitted as rebuttal and impeachment after Howard
testificd. The Court also found that the district court did not error in rejecting
the two accomplice instructions; the anti-sympathy language in one of the
instructions was not err in light of the totality of the instructions and the record
supported the district court’s refusal to instruct on certain mitigating
circumstances for lack of evidence. The Court concluded by stating it had
considered Howard’s other claims of error and found them to be without merit,
Howard filed a petition for rehearing which was denied on March 24, 1987.
Remitittur was stayed pending the filing of a petition for Writ of Certiorari to
the United States Supreme Court on the anti-sympathy issues. John Graves, Jr.
was appointed to represent Howard on the writ petition. The petition was
denied on October 5, 1987 and remitittur issued on February 12, 1988.

On October 28, 1987, Howard filed his first State petition for post-
conviction relief. John Graves Jr. and Carmine Colucci originally represented
Howard on the petition. They withdrew and David Schieck was appointed.
The petition raised the following claims for relief: 1) ineffective assistance of
trial counsel — guilt phase - failure to present an insanity defense and IHoward’s
history of mental iliness and commitments; 2) ineffective assistance of trial
counsel —~ penalty phase — failure to present mental health history and
documents; failure to present{ expert psychiatric evidence that Howard was not
a danger to jail population; failure to rebut future dangerousness evidence with
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jail records and personnel; failure to object to improper prosecutorial
arguments invoiving statistics regarding deterrence, predictions of future
victims, Howard’s lack of rchabilitation, aligning the jury with “future
victims,” comparing victim’s life with Howard’s life, diluting jury’s
responsibility by suggesting it was shared with other entities, voicing personal
opinions in support of the death penalty and its application to Howard,
references to Charles Manson, voice of society arguments and referring to
Howard as an animal; 3) ineffective assistance of appellate counsel — failure to
raise prosecutorial misconduct issues.

An evidentiary hearing was held on August 25, 1988. George Franzen
Lizzie Hatcher, John Graves and Howard testitied. Supplemental points and
authorities were filed on October 3, 1988. The district court entered an oral
decision denying the petition on February 14, 1989, The district court
concluded that trial counsel performed admirably under difficult circumstances
created by Howard himself. As to the failure to present an insanity defense
and present mental health records, the court found that Howard was canvassed
throughout the proceedings about his refusal to cooperate in obtaining those
records, particularly his refusal fo sign releases, Howard knew what was going
on, was competent and was trying to manipulate the proceedings and that there
was no evidence to support an insanity defense, therefore counsel were not
ineffective in this regard.

On the issue of failure to object to prosecutorial misconduct, the district
court found that defense counsel did object where appropriate and the
arguments that were not objected to did not amount to misconduct and were a
fair comment on the evidence. Even if some of the comments were improper,
the district court concluded that they would not have succeeded on appeal as
they were harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Formal findings of fact and
conclusions of law were filed on July 5, 1989.4

The Nevada Supreme Court alfirmed the district court’s denial of
Howard’s first State petition for post-conviction relief. Howard v, State, 106
Nev., 713, 800 P.2d 175 (1990) (hereinafter “Howard [I'). David Schieck
represented Howard in that appeal. On appeal Howard raised ineffective
assistance of trial and appellate counsel regarding the prosecutorial misconduct
issues. The Supreme Court found three comments to be improper under
Collier v. State, 101 Nev. 473, 705 P.2d 1126 (1985)°: 1) a personal opinion
that Howard merited the death penalty, 2) a golden rule argument — asking the
jury to put themselves in the shoes of a future victims and 3) an argument
without support from evidence that Howard might escape. The Court found
that counsel were ineffective for failing to object to these arguments but
concluded there was no reasonable probability of a contrary result absent these

‘During the pendency of the first State petition for post-conviction relief, Howard filed his first Federal petition for
habeas relief. That petition was dismissed without prejudice on June 23, 1988.
> Collier was decided two vears after Howard’s trial,
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remarks and therefore no prejudice. The Court rejected Howard’s other
contentions of improper argument.

With respect the mitigation evidence issues, the Nevada Supreme Court
upheld the district court’s findings that this was a result of Howard’s own
conduct and not ineffective assistance of counsel.®

Howard proceeded to file a second Federal habeas corpus petition on
May 1, 1991. This proceeding was stayed for IToward to exhaust his state
remedies on October 16, 1991. |

Howard then filed a second State petition for post-conviction relief on
December 16, 1991. Cal J. Potter, ITI and Fred Atcheson represented Howard
in the second State petition. In that petition, Howard alleged denial of a fair
trial based on prosecutorial misconduct, namely: 1) jury tampering based on
the prosecutor’s contact with the juror between the guilt and penalty phases; 2)
expressions of personal belief and a personal endorsement of the death penalty;
3) reference to the improbability of rehabilitation, escape, future killings; 3)
comparing Howard’s life with Dr. Monahan’s and 4) a statement that the
community would benefit from Howard’s death. The petition also asserted an
ineffective assistance of trial counsel claim for failing to explain to Howard the
nature of mitigating circumstances and their importance. Finally the petition
raised a speedy trial violation and cumulative error.

The State moved to dismiss the second State petition as procedurally
barred or governed by the law of the case on I'ebruary 10, 1992. In his reply,
Howard dropped his speedy trial claim as unsubstantiated and indicated if the
other claims were barred, then they had been exhausted and Howard could
procecd in Federal court,

The district court denied the petition on July 7, 1992. The district court
found that the claims of prosecutorial misconduct and ineffective assistance of
counsel relating thereto as well as the claims relating to mitigation evidence
had been heard and found to be without merit or failed to demonstrate
prejudice. Such claims were therefore barred by the law of the case. The
district court further concluded that any claim of cumulative error and any
issues not raised in previous proceedings were procedurally barred. Finaily the
district court found the speedy trial violation was a naked allegation, [rivolous
and procedurally barred.

Howard appealed the denial of his second State petition to the Nevada
Supreme Court, which dismissed his appeal on March 19, 1993. The Order
Dismissing Appeal found that Howard’s second State petition was so lacking
in merit that briefing and oral argument was not warranted. Howard filed a
petition for Writ of Certiorari challenging the summary affirmance and the

 The State filed a petition for rehearing with respect to sanctions imposed on the prosecutor because his remarks
violated Collier. The State noted that Howard’s trial occurred befors Collier therefore the Court shouid not sanction
counsel for conduct that occurred before the Court issued the Collier opinion. Rehearing was denied February 7, 1991.
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stayed for Howard to again exhaust his federal claims in state court.

United States Supreme Court denied the request on October 4, 1993,

On December 8, 1993, Howard returned to federal court and filed a new
pro se habeas petition rather than lifting the stay in the previous petition, After
almost three years, on September 2, 1996, the federal district court dismissed
the petition as inadequate and ordered Howard to file a second amended
federal petition that contained more than conclusory allegations. Thereafter
Howard, now represented by Patricia Erickson, filed a Second Amended
Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus on January 27, 1997,  After almost five
years, on September 23, 2002, the Second Amended Federal petition was

Howard filed his third State petition for post-conviction relief on
December 20, 2002. Patricia Erickson represented him on this petition. The
petition asserted the following claims, phrased generally as denial of a
fundamentally fair irial or assistance of counsel under the Fifth, Sixth and
Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution or as cruel and
unusual punishment under the Eighth Amendment: 1) failure to sever Sears
robbery count from Monahan robbery/murder counts; 2) failure to suppress
Howard’s statements to LVMPD and physical evidence derived therefrom; 3)
speedy trial violation; 4) trial counsel actual conflict of interest — Jackson
issue; 5) failure to give accomplice as a matter of law and accomplice
testimony should be viewed with distrust instructions — Dwana Thomas; 6)
improper jury instructions — diluting standard of proof - reasonable doubt,
second degree murder as lesser included of first degree murder, premeditation,
intent and malice instructions; 7} improper jury instructions — failure to clearly
define first degree murder as specific intent crime requiring malice and
premeditation, &) improper premeditation instruction blurred distinction
between first and second degree murder; 9) improper malice instruction; 10)
improper anti-sympathy instruction; 11) failure to give influence of extreme
mental or emotional disturbance mitigator instruction; 12} improper limitation
of mitigation by giving only “any other mitigating circumstance” instruction;
13) failure to instruct that mitigating circumstances findings need not be
unanimous; 14) prosecutorial misconduct — jury tampering, stating personal
beliets, personal endorsement of death penalty, improper argument regarding
rehabilitation, escape and future killings; comparing Howard and victim’s
lives, comparing Howard to notorious murder (Charles Manson) and improper
community benefit argument; 15) use of felony robbery as aggravator and
basis for first degree murder; 16) improper reasonable doubt instruction; 17)
ineffective assistance of trial counsel — inadequate contact, conflict of interest,
failure to contact California counsel to obtain records, failure to obtain Patton
and Atescadero hospital records, failure to obtain California trial transcripts,
failure to review Clark County Detention Center medical records, failure to
challenge competency to stand trial, failure to obtain suppression hearing,
failure to present legal insanity, failure to object to reasonable doubt
instruction, failure to view visiting records and call witnesses based upon
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same, failure to call Pinkie Williams and Carol Walker in penalty phase,
failure to investigate and call Benjamin Evans in penalty phase, failure to
obtain San Bernardino medical records regarding suicide attempt, failure to
obtain military records, failure to adequately explain concept of mitigation
evidence, failure to object to prosecutorial misconduct in closing arguments,
tailure to refute future dangerousness argument, failure to object to trial court’s
limitation of mitigating circumstances and failure to object to instructions
which allegedly required unanimous finding of mitigating circumstances; 18)
incffective assistance of appellate counsel — failed to raise claims 3, 4, 6-9, 12,
13, 15, 16, 20 and 21 on appeal; 19) incffective assistance of post-conviction
counsel — failure to adequately investigate and develop all trial and appeal
claims; 20) cumulative error; 21) Nevada’s death penalty is administered in an
arbitrary, irrational and capricious fashion; 22) lethal injection constitutes cruel
and unusual punishment and 23) the death penalty violates evolving standards
of decency,

The State filed a motion to dismiss Howard’s third State petition on
March 4, 2001. The State argued that the entire petition was procedurally
barred under NRS 34.726(1) (one year limit) and NRS 34.800 (live year
laches) and that Howard had not shown good cause for delay in raising the
claims to overcome the procedural bars. The State also analyzed each claim
and noted what issues had already been raised and decided adversely to
Howard or should have been raised and were waived under NRS 34.810.

Howard filed an amended third State petition. The amended petition
expanded the factual matters under Claim 17 regarding Howard’s family
background that Howard asserted should have been presented in mitigation.

On August 20, 2003, Howard filed his opposition to the State’s motion
to dismiss his third State petition. As good causc for delay, Howard alleged
Nevada’s successive petition and waiver bar (NRS 34.810) is inconsistently
applied and Pellegrini v. State, 117 Nev. 860, 34 P.3d 519 (2001) is not
controlling. Howard contended NRS 34,726 did not apply because any delay
was the fault of counsel not Howard and NRS 34.726 is unconstitutional and
cannot be applied to successive petitions Pellegrini notwithstanding. Howard
argued the Due process and Equal Protection clauses of the Federal
Constitution bar application of NRS 34.726, NRS 34.800 and NRS 34.810 to
Howard. In addition, Howard asserted NRS 34.800 did not apply because the
State had not shown prejudice and the presumption of prejudice was overcome
by the allegations in the petition.

The State filed a reply to the opposition on September 24, 2003. The
district court issued an oral decision on October 2, 2003 dismissing the third
State petition as procedurally barred under NRS 34.726 and finding Howard
had failed to overcome the bar by showing good cause for delay. The district
court also independently dismissed the claims under NRS 34.810. Written
findings were entered on October 23, 2003.

Howard appealed the dismissal to the Nevada Supreme Court, which
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affirmed the district court’s dismissal of the third State petition on December
4, 2004. The High Court addressed Howard’s assertions that he had either
overcome the procedural bars or they could not constitutionally be applied to
him and rejected them. Among its conclusions, the Court noted that the record
reflected Howard was aware that all his claims challenging the conviction or
imposition of sentence must be joined in a single petition and that Howard had
no right to post-conviction counsel at the time of the filing of his first and
second State petitions for post-conviction relief and hence ineffectiveness of
post-conviction counsel could not be good cause for delay.’

Howard then returned to Federal district court where he filed his Third
Amended Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus on October 23, 2005.
Subsequently, without seeking approval from the Federal Court, the Federal
Public Defender’s Office filed, on Howard’s behalf, the current Fourth State
Post-Conviction Petition on October 27, 2007. The State filed a motion to
dismiss the Fourth State Petition on April 8, 2008. The parties agreed to stay
this case for several months while Howard sought permission from the Federal
District Court to hold his federal petition for post-conviction habeas corpus in
abeyance pending exhaustion of the claims already filed in the Fourth State
Petition and of new claims he wished to file in State court as a result of the
Ninth Circuit’s decision in Polk v. Sandoval, 503 F.3d 903, 910 (9 Cir. 2007).

The United States District Court denied Howards’ motion for stay and
abevance on January 9, 2009. Thereafter, Howard filed an Opposition to the
State’s original motion to dismiss and an Amended Petition on February 24,
2009. The State responded to Howard’s opposition to the original motion to
dismiss and additionally moved to dismiss the Amended Fourth Petition on
October 7, 2009.8 Howard filed an Opposition to the Amended Motion to
Dismiss on December 18, 2009. Howard filed supplemental authorities on
January 5, 2010,

Argument on the State’s motion to dismiss was heard on February 4,
2010. The matter was taken under advisement so the district court could
review the extensive record. A Minute Order Decision was issued on May 13,
2010 dismissing the Fourth State Petition as procedurally barred.

(Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order, filed November 6, 2010, p. 1-12

(footnotes in original)).

This Court denied Petitioner’s fourth habeas petition. (Findings of Fact, Conclusions

7 See 1987 Nev. Stat., ¢h. 539, § 42 at 1230 (providing that appointment of counsel was discretionary not mandatory).

§ Although both defense counsel and this Court received a copy of the Opposition and Amended Motion to Dismiss, for
some reason it was not filed. This Court authorized the District Aftomey’s Office to file a Notice of Errata and attach a
copy of the previously distributed Opposition and Amended Motion to Dismiss, This was filed on February 4, 2010,
Subsequently, the missing document was located and the original Amended Motion to Dismiss was officially filed on
May 11, 2010.
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of Law and Order, filed November 6, 2010, p. 26-33). Pctitioncr challenged this Court’s
decision before the Nevada Supreme Court. (Notice of Appeal, filed on December 21,
2010). Prior to ruling on this Court’s fourth denial of habeas relief, the Nevada Supreme
Court issued an opinion in Howard v. State,  Nev. , 291 P.3d 137 (2012), addressing the

scaling of documents. The Federal Public Defender (FPD) filed a motion in the Supreme
Court to substitute counsel that included information that was potentially embarrassing to
on¢ or more current or former FPD attorneys as well as a lﬁrior private attorney who had
represented Howard. Id. at 291 P.3d at 139. A cover sheet indicated that the motion was
sealed but the FPD failed to file a separate motion to seal the pleading. Id. The Court
concluded that the FPD had not properly moved to seal and that sealing was unjustified. Id.
at _, 291 P.3d at 145. Ultimately, the Court affirmed this Court’s denial of habeas relief.
Order of Affirmance, filed July 30, 2014, attached to Clerk’s Certilicate, filed October 24,
2014. The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari, Howard v. Nevada, U.S, |
135 8.Ct, 2908 (2013).

Petitioner filed a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction) (Fifth

Petition) on October 5, 2016. (Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction), filed
October 3, 2016). Respondent filed an opposition and motion to dismiss on November 2,
2016. (Opposition and Motion to Dismiss Fifth Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-
Conviction) (Opposition and Motion to Dismiss), filed November 2, 2016).

On December 1, 2016, Petitioner filed an amended fifth state habeas petition,
(Amended Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction) (Amended Fifth Petition),
filed December 1, 2016).

ARGUMENT

This Court should strike the Amended Fifth Petition because Petitioner failed to seek
leave of court to file a supplemental pleading and ignored his obligation to allege good cause
to amend. Petitioner’s choice to disregard his statutory obligations has resulted in further

unnecessary delay in a case where sentence was imposed in 1983. Ultimately, the Amended
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Fifth Petition must be struck because Petitioner cannot establish good cause to warrant
amendment.

Chapter 34 allows a habeas petitioner to file a pro per petition without the assistance
of a lawyer. NRS 34.724(1). A court may appoint an attorney for an indigent petitioner
under the appropriate circumstances. NRS 34.750(1). Appointment of counsel is mandatory
where a first petition challenges a sentence of death. NRS 34.820(1). Appointed counsel
may supplement the pro per petition once within thirty days of appointment. NRS
34.750(3). After that, “|njo further pleadings may be filed except as ordered by the court.”
NRS 34.750(5). Such leave should only be granted where “there is good cause to allow a

petitioner to expand the issues previously pleaded[.]” Barnhart v. State, 122 Nev. 301, 303,

130 P.3d 650, 652 (2006). The strict nature of this process is justified by the Nevada
Legislature’s policy favoring the finality of convictions and the rapid resolution of habeas
litigation. NRS 34.740 (requiring expeditious examination of habeas petitions by the
judiciary); NRS 34.820(7) (requiring in capital habeas cases that judicial officers “render a

decision within 60 days after submission of the matter for decision.”); Pellegrini v. State,

117 Nev. 860, 875, 34 P.3d 519, 529 (2001) (the “clear and unambiguous” provisions of
NRS 34.726(1) demonstrate an “intolerance toward perpetual filing of petitions for relief,

which clogs the court system and undermines the finality of convictions.”); Ford v. Warden,

111 Nev. 872, 882, 901 P.2d 123, 129 (1995) (“[ulnlike initial petitions which certainly
require a careful review of the record, successive petitions may be dismissed based solely on
the face of the petition™).

The Federal Public Defender (FPDD) volunteered as counsel for Petitioner by filing the
Fifth Petition without appointment by this Court. As such, Petitioner has received the
benefit of the single attorney pleading authorized by NRS 34.750(3). Regardless, the
Amended Fifth Petition was filed on December 1, 2016, more than 30 days after any event
equivalent to the appointment of counsel. (See, Notice of Appearance, filed September 29,
2016; Fifth Petition, filed October 5, 2016; Order Admitting to Practice Attorneys Deborah
Anne Czuba, Esq., and Jonah J. Horwitz, Esq., filed October 24, 2016). If counsel felt it was
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necessary to add a complaint to the Fifth Petition, defense should have sought leave from
this Court and alleged good cause for adding the claim. 'The failure to comply with this
process has added needless delay to this proceeding. The Fifth Petition was set for argument
on December 14, 2016, but now any decision will be delayed at least until the March 17,
2017, hearing, and possibly longer.

Such needless delay is of concern because a habeas petitioner subject to a death
sentence has an incentive to create unwarranted delay in order to frustrate imposition of

sentence. Rhines v. Weber, 544 U.S. 269, 277-78, 125 S.Ct. 1528, 1535 (2005) (“In

particular, capital petitioners might deliberately engage in dilatory tactics to prolong their

incarceration and avoid execution of the sentence of death.”); In re Reno, 55 Cal.4™ 428,

515, 283 P.3d 1181, 1246 (Cal. 2012) (“death row inmates have an incentive to delay
assertion of habeas corpus claims™). The possibility that such abusive litigation practices are
at play in this case 13 of heightened concern because the FPD represents Petitioner. The
institutional culture of the FPD evidences an almost religiously militant opposition to the
death penalty such that all other obligations are sacrificed for the cause. See,

Commonwealth v. Spotz, 610 Pa. 17, 160-93, 18 A.3d 244, 329-49 (Pa. 2011) (concurrence

of Chief Justice Castille, criticizing FPD for intentional delay of capital habeas proceedings;

| describing pleadings as prolific, abusive and offered in bad faith; and indicating that FPD

strategies were ethically dubious); Debra Cassens Weiss, Federal PDs have 40 days to

explain inmate’s letter saying he didn’t authorize SCOTUS appeal, ABA Journal (July 1,

2014)(http:/www.abajournal.com/news/article/federal pds _have 40 days_to_explain_inma

tes letter saving he didnt authoriz).

The Nevada Supreme Court has directed prosecutors to make a record of possible

instances of defense misconduct:

Before leaving the issues of misconduct, we desire to dispel any notion that
this court views the subject exclusively as a prosecutor's problem, We are not
unawarc that defense counsel may perceive some incentive for trial
misbehavior. If misconduct by defense counsel produces an acquittal, there is
no right of appeal by the State; if the misconduct precipitates a basis for review
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and reversal, defense counsel may still assess the result as positive. In those
instances where the prosecutor is convinced that such misconduct is occurring,
we strongly urge a timely objection and the making of a specific record outside
the presence of the jury. If an appeal is taken in the case, the State may
appropriately direct this court's attention to the misconduct by defense counsel
for our consideration. Where appeals are not taken, and the magnitude of
misconduct by the defense is sufficiently serious, reference should be made to
the appropriate disciplinary authority of the state bar with evidentiary support
from the record. In brief, the objective is to free Nevada criminal frials from
the taint of misconduct, irrespective of the source.

Williams v. State, 103 Nev. 106, 111, 734 P.2d 700, 703-04 (1987) (emphasis added).

Standing alone, the FPI)’s failure to seek leave and proffer good cause in violation of NRS
34.750(5) and Barnhart may be insufficient to conclusive prove misconduct. However,
when defense ignores basic rules of habeas procedure guaranteed to cause delay in the
context of a sentence imposed in 1983, there is a powerful inference that execution of
Petitioner’s sentence is being intentionally and unreasonably delayed.

Regardless of the intent motivating Petitioner’s decision to ignore NRS 34.750(5) and
Barnhart, Petitioner cannot establish good cause to file the Amended Fifth Petition. All of
the law and facts cited. in Claim Two of the Amended Fifth Petition were available at the
time the Fifth Petition was filed. Thus, Claim Two should have been alleged in the Fifth
Petition. Petitioner must offer more than an epiphany by counsel to justify the delay inherent
in adding another argument to the Fifth Petition.

Nor can Petitioner ask this Court to engage in the circular reasoning that there is good
cause to amend based upon the allegedly meritorious nature of his claim. This is because the
underlying claim is meritless and cannot support a finding of good cause and prejudice to

waive Petitioner’s prejudicial defaults.” Claim Two complains that Petitionet’s sentence is

¢ The State does not address Petitioner’s multiple procedural defaults in this motion since such a discussion is
appropriate for an opposition and a motion to dismiss. Respondent need not address arguments that are not appropriately
before this Court due to Petitioner’s failure to seek leave and prove good cause. Chapter 34 protects the prosecution
from such a waste of limited resources by making a responsive pleading dependent upon an order from this Court. NRS
34.745(1){(a)(1). Ultimately, if Petitioner’s decision to ignore NRS 34.750(5) and Bambhart is permitted to stand, the
State will request leave of court to file an amended opposition and motion to dismiss that offers procedural default
arguments similar to those in the Opposition and Motion to Dismiss. (Opposition and Motion to Dismiss, filed
November 2, 2016, p. 13-28).
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invalid under Hurst v. Florida, 577 U.S. , 136 §.Ct. 616 (2016), because jurors were not

instructed that to imposc a sentence of death they “must find beyond a reasonable doubt
[that] the aggravation outweighs the mitigation.” (Amended Fifth Petition, p. 8). Petitioner
contends that Hurst requires such an instruction because he believes that the weighing of
mitigation against aggravation is a factual determination. [d. Petition is wrong on both
counts.

At a capital sentencing proceeding:

[Tlhe jury determines whether any aggravating circumstances have been

proven beyond a reasonable doubt and whether any mitigating circumstances

exist. ... If the jury unanimously finds that at least one statutory aggravating

circumstance has been proven beyond a reasonable doubt, the jury must also

determine whether there are mitigating circumstances “sufficient to outweigh
the aggravating circumstance or circumstances found.”

Nunnery v, State, 127 Nev, 749, 772, 263 P.3d 235, 251 (2011), cert. denied, U.S.  , 132
S.Ct. 2774 (2012) (quoting NRS 175.554(2)-(4)). Further, the weighing of mitigation

against aggravation “is not part of the narrowing aspect of the capital sentencing process.
Rather, ... [it is] part of the individualized consideration that is the hallmark of ... the
selection phase of the capital sentencing process.” Lisle v. State, 131 Nev. _, , 351 P.3d
725,732 (2015), cert. denied,  U.S. _, 136 8.Ct. 2019 (2016).

The Nevada Supreme Court has specifically held that the weighing of mitigation

against aggravation is not a factual determination and is not subject to the beyond-a-
reasonable-doubt standard. Nunnery, 127 Nev. at 770-76, 263 P.3d at 250-53. Petitioner’s
reliance upon Hurst without addressing Nunnery demonstrates the folly of his underlying
complaint and is the strongest evidence that he cannot demonstrate good cause to amend
under NRS 45.750(5). Hurst was merely an application of Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584,
122 S. Ct. 2428 (2002). Hurst, 577 U.S. at _, 136 S.Ct. at 621-22 (“[t]|he analysis the Ring

Court applied to Arizona’s sentencing scheme applies equally to Florida’s”). Nunnery
specifically addressed the application of Ring to Nevada’s weighing equation and rejected
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both of Petitioner’s arguments. The Court held that “the weighing of aggravating and
mitigating circumstances is not a fact-finding[.]” Nunnery, 127 Nev. at 775, 263 P.3d 253.
The Court also ruled that “even if the result of the weighing determination increases the
maximum sentence for first-degree murder beyond the prescribed statutory maximum, it is
not a factual finding that is susceptible to the beyond-a-reasonable-doubt standard.” Id. at
772,263 P.3d at 250.

Nevada has long rejected any attempt to apply the beyond-a-reasonable-doubt
standard to the weighing process. DePasquale v. State, 106 Nev. 843, 852, 803 P.2d 2138,

223 (1990); Gallego v. State, 101 Nev. 782, 711 P.2d 856 (1985); Ybarra v. State, 100 Nev, _

167, 679 P.2d 797 (1984). In Nevada, the weighing process is mandatory and must be
conducted by a jury, but the beyond-a-reasonable-doubt standard does not apply to the
weighing of mitigation against aggravation by individual jurors, “Nothing in the plain
language of these provisions [NRS 200.030(4)(a) and NRS 175.554(3}] requires a jury to
find, or the State to prove, beyond a reasonable doubt that no mitigating circumstances

outweighed the aggravating circumstances in order to impose the death penally.”

McConnell v. State, 125 Nev. 243, 254, 212 P.3d 307, 314-15 (2009).

Instead, Nevada’s weighing process is “a moral decision that is not susceptible to
proof.” Id. (citing Penry v. Lynaugh, 492 U.S. 302, 319, 109 S.Ct. 2934 (1989)), Caldwell
v. Mississippi, 472 U.S. 320, 340 n. 7, 105 S.Ct. 2633 (1985) (weighing is a “highly

subjective,” “largely moral judgment” *regarding the punishment that a particular person
deserves ....”). Exempting this moral judgment from the beyond